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Annual Report of Holding Companies-FR Y-6 
i FRB RICHMOND 

Report at the close of business as of the end of fiscal year 

This Report is required by Jaw: Section 5(c)(1)(A) of the Bank 
Holding Company Act (12 U.S.C. § 1844(c)(1)(A)); sections 8(a) 
and 13(a) of the International Banking Act (12 U.S.C. §§ 3106(a) 
and 3108(a)); sections 11(a)(1), 25, and 25A of the Federal 
Reserve Act (12 U.S.C. §§ 248(a)(1), 602, and 611a); and sec­
tions 113,165,312,618, and 809 of the Dodd-FrankAct(12 U.S.C. 
§§ 5361, 5365, 5412, 1850a(c)(1), and 5468(b)(1)). Return to the 
appropriate Federal Reserve Bank the original and the number of 
copies specified. 

NOTE: The Annual Report of Holding Companies must be signed by 
one director of the top-tier holding company. This individual should 
also be a senior official of the top-tier holding company. In the event 
that the top-tier holding company does not have an individual who is 
a senior official and is also a director, the chairman of the board must 
sign the report. If the holding company is an ESOP/ESOT formed as 
a corporation or is an LLC, see the General Instructions for the 
authorized individual who must sign the report. 
1, James H. Sills, Ill 

Name of the Holding Company Director and Official 

President and CEO 
Title of the Holding Company Director and Official 

attest that the Annual Report of Holding Companies (including 
the supporting attachments) for this report date has been pre­
pared in conformance with the instructions issued by the Federal 
Reserve System and are true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge and belief. 

With respect to information regarding individuals contained in this 
report, the Reporter certifies that it has the authority to provide this 
information to the Federal Reserve. The Reporter also certifies 
that it has the authoritY, on behalf of each individual, to consent or 
object to public release of information regarding that individual. 
The Federal Reserve may assume, in the absence of a request for 
confidential treatment submitted in accordance with the Board's 
"Rules Regarding Availability of Information," 12 C.FR. Part 261, 
that the Reporter and individual nsent to public release of all 
det ·1s in the report con ming th t i di · ,al. 

For holding companies l1.Q1 registered with the SEC-
Indicate status of Annual Report to Shareholders: 

0 is included with the FR Y-6 report 

D will be sent under separate cover 

D is not prepared 

For Federal Reserve Bank Use Only 

RSSDID -7<go1t [D 
C.I. 

This report form is to be filed by all top-tier bank holding compa­
nies, top-tier savings and Joan holding companies, and U.S. inter­
mediate holding companies organized under U.S. law, and by 
any foreign banking organization that does not meet the require­
ments of and is not treated as a qualifying foreign banking orga­
nization under Section 211.23 of Regulation K (12 C.F.R. § 
211.23). (See page one of the general instructions for more detail 
of who must file.) The Federal Reserve may not conduct or spon­
sor, and an organization (or a person) is not required to respond 
to, an information collection unless it displays a currently valid 
0MB control number. 

Date of Report (top-tier holding company's fiscal year-end): 

December 31, 2018 
Month/ Day / Year 

No LEI 
Reporter's Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) (20-Character LEI Code) 

Reporter's Name, Street, and Mailing Address 

M&F Bancorp, Inc. 
Legal Title of Holding Company 

2634 Durham Chapel Hill Blvd 
(Mailing Address of the Holding Company) Street/ P.O. Box 

Durham NC 27707 
City State Zip Code 

Physical Location (if different from mailing address) 

Person to whom questions about this report should be directed: 
Kathy E. Fox VP/Controller 
Name 

919-536-7547 
Area Code I Phone Number/ Ex1ension 

919-687-7807 
Area Code/ FAX Number 

kathy.fox@mfbonline.com 
E-mail Address 

www.mfbonline.com 

--- ---------Title 

Address (URL) for the Holding Company's web page 

:~i~~~~~~n~~~~~:!~~~t. re:u~s'.~~-~~-r. ~ny. :.~~i.o~. o.f ... ~ 
In accordance with the General Instructions for this report 
(check only one), 

1. a letter justifying this request is being provided along 
with the report . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . D 

2. a letter justifying this request has been provided separately ... D 
NOTE: Information for which confidential treatment is being requested 

must be provided separately and labeled 
as "confidential." 

Public reporting burden for this information collection is estimated to vary from 1 3 to 101 hours per response, with an average of 5 50 hours per response, including time to gather and 
maintain data in the required form and to review instructions and complete the information collection . Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of 
information, including suggestions for reducing this burden to: Secretary, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 20th and C Streets, NW, Washington, DC 20551, and to the 
Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (7100-0297), Washington, DC 20503 03/2018 
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Top-tiered holding companies must list the names, mailing address, and physical locations of each of their subsidiary holding companies 
below. 
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Physical Location (if different from mailing address) Physical Location (if different from mailing address) 
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FORM FR Y-6 

M&F BANCORP, INC 

FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2018 

REPORT ITEM 

2A 

2.B. 

The bank holding company prepares an annual report for its securities holders and is not registered with the SEC. The bank holding company deregisered from the SEC on 9/13/16. 

As specified by Federal Reserve Bank of Riclunond, 2 copies are enclosed. 

Organizational Chart 

M&F BANCORP, INC 

NO LEI 

DURHAM,NC 

INCORPORATED IN NORTH CAROLINA 

I 
100% 

MECHANICS&FARMERSBANK 

NOLEI 

DURHAM,NC 

INCORPORATED IN NORTH CAROLINA 

Domestic branch listing submitted via email on March 11, 2019 to the Federal Reserve Bank 





Results: A list of branches for your depository instituttan: MECHANICS & FARMERS BANK (ID_RSSO: 332224}, 

This depository institution is held by M&F BANCORP, INC (2807810) of DURHAM, NC. 

The data are as of 12/31/201S. Data reflects information that was received and processed through 01/06/2019. 

Reconciliation and Verification Steps 

1. In the Data Action column of each branch row, enter one or more of the actions specified below 
2. ff required, enter the date in the Effective Date column 

~ 
OK: If the branch information is correct, enter 'OK' in the Data Action column. 

Change: If the branch information is incorrect or incomplete, revise the data, enter 'Change' in the Data Action column and the date when this information first became valid in the Effective Date column 

C1ose: If a branch listed was sold or closed, enter 'Oo~' in the Data Action column and the sale or closure date in the Effective Date column. 

Delete: If a branch listed was never owned by this depository institution, enter 'Delete' in the Dita Action column. 

Add: If a reportable branch is missing, insert a row, add the branch data, and enter 'Add' in the Data Action column and the opening or acquisition date in the Effective Date column. 

If printing this list, you may need to adjust your page setup in MS Excel. Try using landscape orientation, page scaling, and/or legal sized paper. 

Submission Procedure 

When you are finished, send a saved copy to your FRB contact. See the detailed instructions on this site for more Information. 

If you are e-mailing this to your FRB contact, put your institution name, city and state in the subject line of the e-mail. 

Note: 

To satisfy the FR Y-10 reporting requirements, you must also submit FR Y-10 Domestic Branch Schedules for each branch with a Data Aaion of Change, Oose, Delete, or A.dd 

The FR Y-10 report may be submitted in a hardcopy format or via the FR Y-10 Online application - https://ylOonlineJederalreserve.gov. 

• FDIC UNINUM, Office Number, and IO_RSSD columns are for reference only. Verification of these values is not required. 

.,..._ m..,,.,.o. ... Brandl Strvlct- Type 8r:anch fO RSSo· Pooular N~me Strut Ad'dtes.s City 

OK Fuff Sor,,i<o. lHud Offi<el 332224 MECHANICS 8. FAIIMUIS BANK 116 WEST PA!IJll5H STREET DURHAM 

OK Full Service 278425 CHARLOTTE BRANCH 101 &&>TTIES FORD RD CHARLOTIE 
OK Full Service 577324 CHAPEL HILL BOULEVARD BRANCH 2105 CHAPEUltll Bl VO DURHAM 

OK Full Service 474928 GREENSBORO BRANCH 100 SOUTH MURROW 80ULEVARO GRE£N.5B0R0 
OK Full Service 394428 RALEIGH BRANCH 13 EAST HARliE]T ST RALEIGH 

OK Full Service 45S020 ROCK QUARRY ROAD BRANCH l8l4 ROCK QUAAAV RO RALEIGH 

OK Full Service 174424 WINSTON-SALEM BRANCH 770 MARTIN LUTHER KJNGJR OA:N'E WINSTON SALEM 

.State 

NC 
NC 

NC 
NC 

NC 

NC 
NC 

ZiD Code Couotv 

27701 DURHAM 

28216 MECKLENBURG 
27707 DURl,AM 
27401 GUILFORD 

,7601 WAKE 

27610 WAKE 

27101 FORSYTH 

Countrv FDIC UNINUM• Office Number• H11:Dd0fnte Head Office ID RSSD• CDmmenu 

UNITED STATES Not Reouired Not Required MECHANICS & fARME.A.S BANK 332224 

UNITED STATES Not Required Not Required MEOtAr,IICS & FARMERS BANK 332224 

UNITED STATES Not Reauired Not Required MEOIANIC:S & FARMERS B,O.NK 332224 
UNITED STATES !\lot.Re.Quired Not ReQuired Mr.CHAAICS & fOJ!MERS BANK 332224 

UNITED STATES Not ReQuired Not Required MECHANICS,&. FARMERS BANK 332224 
UNITED STATES Not ReQuired Not Required MECHANJC:S & FAAMlRS BANk 332224 

UNITED ST.ATES Not Reouired Not Required MECHANICS & FARMERS BANK 332224 
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FORMFRY~ 
' M&F BANCORP, INC 

FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2018 

REPORT ITEM 3: SHAREHOLDERS 
l.AB.C. AND 2.A.B.C 

CURRENT SHAREHOLDERS WITH OWNERSHIP, CONTROL OR HOLDING OF %5 OR MORE WITH POWER TO VOTE AS F1SCAL SHAREHOLDER NOT LISTED IN 3.1.A THROUGH 3.1.C THAT HAD OWNERSHIP, CONTROL OR HOLDINGS OF %5 OR MORE WITH 
YEAR ENDING 12/31/2018 POWER TO VOTE DURING F1SCAL YEAR ENDING 12/31/2018 

I.A LB LC 2.A 2.B 2.C 
NAMES & ADDRESSES COUNTRY OF CITIZENSHIP OR NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF EACH CLASS NAMES & ADDRESSES COUNTRY OF CITIZENSHIP OR NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF EACH CLASS 
CITY, STATE. COUNTRY INCORPORATION OF VOTING SECURITIES CITY, STATE, COUNTRY INCORPORATION OF VOTING SECURITIES 
*JAMES E SANSOM USA 60,266 NIA NIA NIA 
CHAPEL HILL, NC, USA 2.96% 

*BERYL VIVIAN GILMORE 60,266 

BETHESDA, MD, USA USA :L96% 

*SARAH GENEVIEVE SANSOM STEWART 60,266 
NEW YORK, NY, USA USA 2.96% 

NORTH CAROLINA MUTUAL LIFE USA 186,040 
INSURANCE COMP ANY 9.16% 
DURHAM, NC 27701 

JULIA WTAYLOR TRUST .. USA 159,614 

PIITSBORO, NC, USA 7.86% 

*The M&F Bancorp, Inc. stock pertaining to the Estate of the late Dr. Vivian M. Sansom which included 180,798 shares ofcommon stock was settled in 2017. The new owners who are siblings, own 60,266 individually and 180,798 collectively. 

**Common stock owned by the Julia W. Taylor Trust for which Ms Taylor also serves as trustee and as such, has voting and investment power over these shares. 





REPORT ITEM. 4: INSIDERS 
I llAB.C. A."ill 4...A..AC. 

PRINCIPAL OCCUPATION 
NAME &ADDRESS IF OTHER THAN WITH 
OTY. ST.AT.E.-COUlsJB.¥ BANK 1::!.0LDING COMPANY 

MICHAEL L LAWRENCE PRESIDENT/CEO, NORTH CAROLil-l'A 
DURHAM, NC, USA MUTUAL LIFE Il-l'S COMPANY 

WILLIE T CWSS, JR 
DURHAM, NC, USA 

PlNANClAL CONSULTANT 

FORMFRY-6 
M&F BANCORP, JJ'\C 

FISCAL YEAREJ\"'D&:C DECEMBER 3J, 2018 

3A. 3 .B JC 4A. 4.B 4C 
(INCLUDES PARTNERSHIPS) IF %25 OR MORE OF 

TITLE & POSITION WITH TlTLE & POSITION WITH SUBSIDIARIES TITLE & POSITION WITH OTHER BUSINESSES PERCENTAGE OF VOTING SHA.RES IN PERCENTAGE OP VOTING SHARES IN VOTING SECURJTJES ARE HELD (LIST NAMES OF COMPANIES 
BANK HOLDING CQlvfPANY (JNCLUDE NAMES OF OTHER BUSil\'ESSES (INCLUDE NAMES OF OTHER BUSINESSES BAl\'K HOLDING COMP A.NY SUBSIDIARIES(Il-l'CLUDE NAMES) AND PERCENT AGE Of_ VOTING) 

DIRECTOR DIR.ECTOR PRESIDENT/CEO, N C MUTUAL LIFE INS CO Less than I% of Company's o/s swck NONE LAWRENCE PROPERTIES LLC 100% 
DIRECTOR NC ST ATE CNVESTMENT FUND BOARD 

DlllCTOR DIRECTOR NONE less lhan 1% ofCompan)'s o/s 51ock NONE NOI\'E 

JAMES H SPEED, JR 
DURHAM, NC, USA 

RETlR.ED PRESIDENT/CEO NORTH DIRECTOR DIRECTOR BROWN CAPITAL MOT MUTUAL FUNDS L= than 1% of Company's o/s Stoc:k NOt,,;C SPEED FINANCIAL GROUP, INC 60% 

RAYMOND C PIERCE 
DURHAM, NC, USA 

JAMES A STEWART 
OUR.HAM, NC, USA 

CONNIEJ WHITE 
DURHAM, NC, USA 

JAMES H_ Sn.LS, ll1 
DURHAM, NC, USA 

RANDALL C, HALL 
DURHAM, NC, USA 

VALERIEM. QUIETT 
OUR.HAM, NC, USA 

CAROLll'lA MUTUAL LIFE CNS COMPANY 

PRESIDENT/CEO 
SOUTIIERN EDUCATION FOUNDATION DIRECTOR 

BROK.ElUCONSlJLTANT CHAIRMAN/DIRECTOR 
STEWART Il\'VESTMENT PROPERTIES, INC 

RETIRED MANAGEMENT CONSULTANT DIRECTOR 

NIA PRESIDENT/CEO/DIRECTOR 

NIA SVP/CFO 

NIA SVP/ CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER/ 
CORP SEC/COMPLIANCE 
OPFICER. 

DIRJSCTOR 

OiAIRMAN/ DIRECTOR 

VICE CHAIR/DIRECTOR 

PR.ESIDENT/CEOIDJRECTOR M&F BANK 

SVP/CFOlliR 

SVP/ CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER/ 
SECRETARYICOMPLlANCEOFFlCER 

HILLMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INVESTMENT TRUST 
STARBOARD INVESTMENT TRUST 
rnvESTORS TITLE COMPANY 
CAROLINA MOTOR CLUB, INC 
CENTAUR MUTUAL FUNDS 
WST INVESTMENT TRUST 
CHESAPEAKE INVESTMENT TRUST 

BROKER/CONSlJLTANT 
STEWART Il\'VESTMENT PROPERTIES, INC 
MAJAJA, INC PRESIDENT 

Lt:ssthan 1% ofCompany's o/s noc.t. 

210% 

CLE.ARVIEW HOUSING CORP, PR.ESIDENT 
CLEARVIEW COMMERCIAL PROP, LLC, MANAGER 
CAMELLIA A.SSOC:lATES, LLC, MANAGER 
MATHISON ASSOCIATES, LP 25% 

NONE Less than I% ofCompau)'s o/s si:ock 

DIRECTOR, HS VER.IFJCATlON, LLC Less than I% of Company's o/s stock 

NIA Less than I% of Company's o/s stock 

NIA 

NONE 

NONE 

NONE 

NONE 

NONE 

NONE 

STEWARTONESTMENr PROPERTIES, IlllC 100% 
MAJAJA, me PRESIDENT 50% 
CLEAR VIEW HOUSlliG CORP, PRESIDENT 45.07% 
CLEARVIEW COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES LLC, MEMBER/MANAGER 45 o,e;. 
CAMELLLAASS0CIATES, LLC, MEMBER/MANAGER 51% 
MATHISON ASSOCIATES, LP 2S% 

NONE 

HOMELAND SEC1JR1TYVER1FICATI0N, LLC 100"1. 

NONE 

NONE 
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This annual report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business 
of M&F Bancorp, Inc. These forward looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and are based on the beliefs and assumptions 
of management of M&F Bancorp, Inc. and on the information available to management at the time that these disclosures were prepared. 
These statements can be identified by the use of words like "expect," "anticipate," "estimate," and "believe," variations of these words 
and other similar expressions. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a number of important factors 
could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including but not limited to, the financial 
success or changing conditions or strategies of M&F Bancorp, Inc.'s customers or vendors, fluctuations in interest rates, actions of 
government regulators, the availability of capital and personnel or general economic conditions. 



M&F Bancorp, Inc. 

Chairman and President's Letter 

To Our Fellow Shareholders: 

During 2018, we made positive progress in all areas of M&F Bancorp, Inc. (the "Company") and M&F Bank (the "Bank"). We have officially turned 
around the Company from two consecutive years of prior losses. We are pleased to report that we generated positive earnings for the year in the amount 
of $466,000 compared to a net loss of $2.6 million in 2017. We were successful in executing our strategic plan to provide access to capital to small 
and medium businesses in all the markets served in 2018. Overall, we had positive increases in assets, loans, deposits and fee income including the 
Bank Enterprise Award ("BEA"). The Company's delinquency rate was .90%, which was the lowest level in 10 years. The Company's Tier 1 Leverage 
Capital ratio was 8.05% and Total Risk Based Capital ratio was 12.27%. We believe that the Company is sound, healthy and meets the regulatory 
definition of well-capitalized. 

Some key highlights over the past year: 

• Significantly improved net income over the past 2 years 
• Produced approximately 13.60% growth in total loans 
• Invested $33.0 million in loans into the communities served 
• Received 2 BEA awards during the year totaling $367,000 
• Improved the Company's risk profile with historically low asset quality metrics 
• Implemented a new line of business, which is expected to boost fee income in 2019 

As noted above, we had a number of major highlights in 2018. Total loans were $174.4 million as of December 2018 versus $153.6 million in 2017. 
Total deposits were $233.0 million as of December 2018 versus $230.4 million in December 2017. Total assets as of December 2018 were $257.2 
million versus $255.1 million in 2017. We finished the year with $19.9 million in capital versus $20.2 million in 2017. The decrease in capital was 
primarily attributable to changes in unrealized losses on investments available-for-sale. During the year, we received our sixth and seventh Bank 
Enterprise Awards from the U.S . Treasury, which is a testament to our commitment to serve low/moderate income communities within our footprint. 

During 2018, the Company's major goals were to increase loan volume and profitability. Our Sales Team made significant strides in making loans to 
small and medium sized businesses of all types. This helps the Bank spread the risk and better align with the growth in the markets served. Further, 
we implemented a bank-wide sales training methodology, which translated into better engagement with our existing customers and potential new 
customers. We were focused on our core business and selling solutions to meet customer needs versus sellingjust products and services. Additionally, 
in an effort to connect with the communities that the bank serves, we are pleased to report that our City Advisory Boards and statewide Millennial 
Advisory Board helped us drive hundreds of new relationships into the Bank. 

We remain committed to our mission as a true community bank, which includes providing high quality banking services to the entire community and 
reinvesting into our local economies. As always, we thank you for your trust and confidence, and we hope we can count on your continued support as 
we move into 2019. 

In closing, we are proud of the improved results and our team. We know we have to achieve increased profitability on a go forward basis. The 
achievements highlighted were not accomplished without a tremendous amount of focus and discipline from the Board and our management team. 

Thank you for your continued support. 

Sincerely, 

James A. Stewart 
Chairman of the Board 

James H. Sills, III 
President and Chief Executive Officer 



0 elliott davis 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
M&F Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary 
Durham, North Carolina. 

Report on the Financial Statements 

Independent Auditor's Report 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of M&F Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary (the "Company"), which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to the consolidated 
financial statements ( collectively, the financial statements). 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of M&F Bancorp, 
Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Raleigh, North Carolina 
March 15, 2019 

elliottdavis.com 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATEDBALANCESHEEfS 

December 31, December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands except for share) 2018 2017 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and due from banks $ 2,654 $ 2,255 

Interest-bearing cash 9,531 21,762 

Total cash and cash equivalents 12,185 24017 

Interest-bearing time deposits 3,206 3,210 

Investment securities available-for-sale, at fair value 50,753 57,488 

Other invested assets 254 256 

Loans, net of unearned income and deferred fees 174,449 153,565 

Allowance for loan losses (" ALLL") (2,079) (1,885) 

Loans, net 172,370 151,680 

Interest receivable 699 651 

Bank premises and equipment, net 2,391 2,437 

Cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 8,985 8,733 

Other real estate owned ("OREO") 104 

Deferred tax assets and taxes receivable, net 4,735 4,875 

Other assets 1,605 1,623 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 257,183 $ 255,074 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Deposits: 

Interest-bearing deposits $ 179,824 $ 183,128 

Noninterest-bearing deposits 53,1% 47,315 

Total deposits 233,020 230,443 

Other borrowings 678 769 

Other liabilities 3,596 3,681 

Total liabilities 237,294 234,893 

COMMITMENTS ANDCONTINGENCIFS (Notes 9, 10, 11, 15 andl7) 

Stockholders' equity: 
Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock- $0.01 par value, 21,000 shares 
authorized, no shares issued or outstanding 

Common stock, no par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 2,031,337 shares issued 
and outstanding 8,732 8,732 

Retained earnings 14,360 13,894 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,203) (2,445) 

Total stockholders' equity 19,889 20,181 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 257,183 $ 255,074 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

For the Years Ended 
(Dollars in thousands except for share and per share data) December 31, 

2018 2017 

Interest income: 
Loans, including fees $ 7,948 $ 7,294 
Investment securities available-for-sale, including dividends 

Taxable 1,131 1,237 
Interest-bearing time deposits 56 31 
Other 328 211 

Total interest income 9,463 8,773 
Interest expense: 

Deposits 1,236 799 
Borrowings 6 17 

Total interest expense 1,242 816 
Net interest income 8,221 7,957 
Less provision for loan losses 26 1,171 

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 8,195 6,786 

Noninterest income: 
Service charges 1,543 1,435 
Rental income 288 
Cash surrender value of life insurance 252 253 
Realized gain on sale ofloan 19 30 
Realiz.ed loss on disposal of assets (6) 
Other income 424 310 

Total noninterest income 2,238 2,310 

Noninterest expense: 
Salaries and employee benefits 5,153 4,821 
Occupancy and equipment 1,172 1,384 
Directors' fees 183 174 
Marketing 233 200 
Professional fees 541 520 
Information technology 1,379 1,305 
FDIC deposit insurance 179 268 
OREO (income) expenses , net (4) 132 
Delivery expenses 120 117 
Other 902 1,145 

Total noninterest expense 9,858 10,066 

Income (loss) before income taxexpense 575 (970) 

Income tax expens c 
Income tax expense (benefit) related to ordinary operations 109 (467) 
Income tax expense related to change in taxrate 2,088 

Income tax expense 109 1,621 

Net income (loss) $ 466 $ (2,591) 

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share of common stock: $ 0.23 $ (1.28) 
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding: 

Basic and diluted 2,031,337 2,031,337 

S ee notes to consolidated finan c ia l statements. 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATIID STATEMENTS OF COMPIDlIENSIVE WSS 

For the Years Ended 

(Dollars in thousands) December 31, 

Net income (loss) 

Other comprehensive income (loss): 
Investment securities: 
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on investment securities available-for-sale 

Tax effect 
Reclassification of accumulated comprehensive loss due to taxrate change 
Net of tax amount 

Defmed benefit pension plans: 
Net actuarial gains (losses) 

Tax effect 
Reclassification of accumulated comprehensive loss due to tax rate change 

Net of tax amount 

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 

Comprehensive loss 

See notes to consolidated financial statements 

$ 

$ 

2018 2017 

466 $ 

(690) 
158 

(532) 

(294) 
68 

(226) 

(758) 

(292) $ 

(2,591) 

329 
(118) 
(176) 

35 

373 
(135) 
(237) 

36 

(2,555) 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATIID STATEMINTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDFRS' EQUITY 
For the Years Fnded December 31, 2018 and2017 

Accumulated 
(Dollars in thousands except for share data) Number Other 

of Common Retained Com pre hens ive 
Shares Stock fillrnings Loss Total 

Balances as of December 31, 2016 2,031,337 $ 8,732 $ 16,072 $ (2,481) $ 22,323 
Net loss (2,591) (2,591) 
Reclassification of disproportionate tax effect from AOCI 413 (413) 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 449 449 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 2,031,337 $ 8,732 $ 13,894 $ (2,445) $ 20,181 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 2,031,337 $ 8,732 $ 13,894 $ (2,445) $ 20,181 
Net income 466 466 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (758) (758) 

Balances as of December 31, 2018 2,031,337 $ 8,732 $ 14,360 $ (3,203) $ 19,889 

See notes to consolidated financial statements 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Cash flow. from operating acti'\i.ties: 
Net income (loss) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash 
provided by operating activities : 

Provision for loan losses 
Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of discounts/premiums on investment securities available-for-sale, net 
Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 
Net (gains) losses on sales of OREO 
Proceeds from sales ofloans held for sale 
Net gain on loan held for sale 
Proceeds from sale ofloan 
Net gain on sale ofloan 
Writedowns ofOREO 
Write-off prepaid rent 
Write-off prepaid lease commissions 

Net changes in: 
Accrued interest receivable and other assets 
Other liabilities 

Net cash pro'\i.ded by operating activities 

Cash flow. from inwsting activities: 
Activ ity in available for sale securities: 

Maturities and calls 
Principal collections 

Proceeds from maturities of interest-bearing time deposits 
Purchases of interest bearing time deposits 
FHLB stock purchases 
FHLB stock redemptions 
Net increase in loans 
Purchases of bank premises and equipment 
Proceeds from sale of bank premises and equipment 
Proceeds from sales of OREO 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

Cash flow. from financing activities: 
Net increase in deposits 
Proceeds from other borrowings 
Repayments of other borrowings 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents as of the beginning of the period 

Cash and cash equivalents as of the end of the period 

See notes to consolidated.financial statements. 

$ 

$ 

For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2018 2017 

466 $ (2,591) 

26 1,171 

334 405 

334 381 

(252) (253) 

6 
(5) 15 

1,005 

(30) 

155 
(19) 

100 

46 

78 

(83) 1,256 

40 (207) 

996 1,382 

1,000 

5,711 6,464 

1,235 

(1,231) (1,975) 

(591) 

2 633 
(20,852) (6,133) 

(288) (906) 

3,185 

109 352 

(15,314) 2,029 

2,577 1,027 

125 9,097 

(216) (9,190) 

2,486 934 

(11,832) 4,345 

24,017 19,672 

12,185 $ 24,017 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, CONTINUED 

(Dollars in thousands) 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 
Cash paid (received) during period for: 

Interest 
Income taxes 

Noncash Transactions: 
Loans transferred to OREO 
Net unrealiz.ed gains (losses) on investment securities available-for-sale, net of deferred 
Adjustments related to defmed benefit plans, net of deferred income tax 
Transfer between liabilities and assets for defmied benefit plan 
Reclassification of accumulated comprehensive loss due to tax rate change 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

$ 

For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2018 2017 

1,200 $ 
(257) 

(532) 

(226) 

804 

204 

35 

1 

733 

(413) 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Operations - M&F Bancorp, Inc. (the "Company") is a bank holding company, and the parent company of Mechanics and Farmers 
Bank (the "Bank"), a state chartered commercial bank incorporated in North Carolina ("NC") in 1907, which began operations in 1908. The Bank 
has seven branches in NC: two in Durham, two in Raleigh, and one each in Charlotte, Greensboro and Winston-Salem. The Company, 
headquartered in Durham, operates as a single business segment and offers a wide variety of consumer and commercial banking services 
and products almost exclusively in NC. 

Basis of Presentation - The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts and transactions of the Company and the Bank, the 
wholly owned subsidiary. All significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The cash and cash equivalents are comprised of highly liquid short-term investments that are carried at cost, 
which approximates market value, and cash held at the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond ("FRB"). The Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve (the "Federal Reserve") and banking laws in NC require banks to maintain average balances in relation to specific percentages of 
their customers' deposits as a reserve. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Bank, held deposits as shown: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

December 31, 2018 
December 31, 2017 

Federal Reserve 
Required Average 

$ 

$ 

1,865 
1,864 

$ 

$ 

Excess 

7,350 
19,347 

$ 

$ 

Bank 

Federal Funds 
Sold 

$ 

$ 

Core Deposits 

2,970 
2,806 

$ 

$ 

Total 

12,185 

24,017 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Bank did not hold any deposits at other financial institutions in excess of the federally insured balances. 

Interest-bearing Time Deposits in Banks ~ Interest-bearing time deposits in banks mature within five years and are carried at cost. 

Investment Securities - Debt securities that the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as "held to 
maturity securities" and reported at amortized cost. Debt and equity securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling in 
the near term are classified as "trading securities" and reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in consolidated earnings. 
Debt securities not classified as either held to maturity securities or trading securities are classified as "available-for-sale securities" and 
reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses excluded from consolidated earnings and reported as a separate component of 
consolidated stockholders' equity and as an item of other comprehensive income. The unrealized gain or loss of a security is identified and 
removed from other comprehensive income when a security is sold, matured, or called. Equity securities not classified as trading securities are 
classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value and changes in fair value included in consolidated earnings. The initial classification of 
securities is determined at the date of purchase. Gains and losses on sales of investment securities, computed based on specific identification 
of the adjusted cost of each security, are included in noninterest income at the time of sale. Premiums and discounts on debt securities are 
recognized in interest income using the interest method over the period to maturity, or when the debt securities are called. 

Declines in the fair value of individual held to maturity and available-for-sale securities below their costs that are other-than-temporary result 
in write-downs of the individual securities to their respective fair value. There were no credit write-downs in consolidated earnings as realized 
losses. Transfers of securities between classifications, of which there were none in 2018 or 2017, are accounted for at fair value. No 
securities were classified as trading or held to maturity as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Other Invested Assets - Other invested assets are investments in Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (the "FHLB") stock carried at historical cost, 
as adjusted for any other-than-temporary impairment loss. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company's investments in FHLB stock were 
$0.3 million. 

Loans - Loans are stated at the amount of unpaid principal, net of deferred loan origination fees and costs. Loans (net) are reduced by the ALLL. 
Nonrefundable loan fees associated with the origination or acquisition of loans are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the loan yield 
over the life of the loan using the effective interest method. Interest on loans is accrued on the daily balances of unpaid principal outstanding. 
Interest income is accrued and credited to income only if deemed collectible. Other loan fees and charges, representing service costs for the 
prepayment of loans, for delinquent payments, or for miscellaneous loan services, are recorded in income when collected. 

Non-Performing Loans and Leases - Generally, all classes of loans and leases are placed on non-accrual status upon becoming contractually 
past due 90 days or more as to principal or interest (unless loans are adequately secured by collateral, are in the process of collection, and are 
reasonably expected to result in repayment), or where substantial doubt about full repayment of principal or interest is evident. 

When a loan or lease is placed on non-accrual status, regardless of class, the accrued and unpaid interest receivable is reversed and the loan 
or lease is accounted for on the cash or cost recovery method until qualifying for return to accrual status. All payments received on non-accrual 
loans and leases are applied against the principal balance of the loan or lease. Loans may be returned to accrual status when all principal 
and interest amounts contractually due (including any arrearages) are reasonably assured of repayment within a reasonable period, 
the borrower has demonstrated payment performance for a minimum of six months in accordance with the original or revised contractual terms 
of the loan, and when doubt about repayment is resolved. 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Generally, for all classes of loans and leases, a charge-off is recorded when it is probable that a loss has been incurred and when it is possible 
to determine a reasonable estimate of the loss. For all classes of commercial loans and leases, a charge-off is determined on a judgmental 
basis after due consideration of the debtor's prospects for repayment and the fair value of collateral. For closed-end consumer loans, the 
entire outstanding balance of the loan is charged-off during the month that the loan becomes 120 days past due as to principal or interest. 
Consumer loans with non- real estate collateral are written down to the value of the collateral, less estimated costs to sell, if repossession 
of collateral is assured and in process. For residential mortgage and home equity loan classes, a partial charge-off is recorded at 120 days 
past due as to principal or interest for the amount that the loan balance exceeds the fair value of the collateral less estimated costs to sell. 

Impaired Loans - A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will not be able 
to collect all amounts due from the borrower in accordance with the original contractual terms of the loan, including scheduled interest 
payments. Impaired loans include all classes of commercial non-accruing loans and Troubled Debt Restructurings ("TDRs"). 

For all classes of commercial loans, a quarterly evaluation of specific individual commercial borrowers with identified weaknesses is performed 
to identify impaired loans. The identification of specific borrowers for review is based on a review of non-accrual loans as well as those 
loans specifically identified by management as exhibiting above average levels of risk. 

When a loan has been identified as being impaired, the amount of impairment is measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows 
discounted at the loan's effective interest rate, the loan's observable market price, or the estimated fair value of the collateral, less any selling 
costs, if the loan is collateral-dependent. If the measurement of the impaired loan is less than the recorded investment in the loan (including 
accrued interest, net of deferred loan fees or costs and unamortized premiums or discounts), impairment is recognized by creating or adjusting 
an existing allocation of the ALLL, or by recording a partial charge-off of the loan to its estimated fair value. Interest payments made on impaired 
loans are typically applied to principal unless collectability of the principal amount is reasonably assured, in which case interest income may 
be accrued or recognized on a cash basis. 

Loans Modified as a TDR - Loans are considered to have been modified as a TDR when the Company makes certain concessions to a 
borrower experiencing financial difficulty. Concessions to the borrower at modification may include interest rate reductions, principal or 
interest forgiveness, forbearance, and other actions intended to minimize economic loss and to avoid foreclosure or repossession of collateral. 
Generally, a non-accrual loan that has been modified in a TDR remains on non-accrual status for a period of six months to demonstrate that the 
borrower is able to meet the terms of the modified loan. However, performance prior to the modification, or significant events that coincide with 
the modification, are included in assessing whether the borrower can meet the new terms and may result in the loan being returned to accrual 
status at the time of loan modification or after a shorter performance period. 

Generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") does not provide specific guidance on when a loan may be returned to accrual status. Federal 
banking regulators have provided guidance that interest on impaired loans, including TDRs, should only be recorded when there has been a sustained 
period of repayment performance, the loan is well secured, and collection under any revised terms is assessed as probable. The Company follows this 
Federal banking regulators guidance. 

One TDR totaling $0.2 million paid off during 2018. Four loans totaling $4.5 million and one loan totaling $462 thousand were removed from IDR 
status during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Factors influencing the decision to remove the TDR status following an 
underwriting and loan modification subsequent to the initial TDR determination date included: 1) the borrowers are no longer experiencing financial 
difficulties, and 2) the terms of the loan are similar to market interest rates for new debt with similar credit risk and characteristics, and 3) the terms are 
no less favorable to the Company than those it would offer for such new debt, i.e., no concession granted. 

Income Recognition on Impaired and Nonaccrual Loans - Loans, including impaired loans, are generally classified as nonaccrual if they are 
past due as to maturity, or payment of principal or interest for a period of more than 90 days, unless such loans are well secured and in the 
process of collection. If a loan or a portion of a loan is classified as doubtful or is partially charged off, the loan is generally classified as 
nonaccrual. Loans that are on a current payment status or past due less than 90 days may also be classified as nonaccrual if full repayment of 
principal and/or interest is in doubt. 

Loans may be returned to accrual status when all principal and interest amounts contractually due (including arrearages) are reasonably assured 
of repayment within a reasonable period of time, and the borrower has demonstrated payment performance for a minimum of six months in 
accordance with the contractual terms involving payments of cash or cash equivalents. 

In the case where a nonaccrual loan had been partially charged-off, recognition of interest on a cash basis is limited to that which would have 
been recognized on the remaining loan balance at the contractual interest rate. Receipts in excess of that amount are recorded as recoveries 
to the allowance for loan losses until prior charged off balances have been fully recovered. 

Reserve for Credit Losses - The Company's reserve for credit losses is comprised of two components, the allowance for loan losses and the 
reserve for unfunded commitments (the "Unfunded Reserve") . 

Allowances for Loan Losses - The ALLL is a valuation allowance, which is established through a prov1s10n for loan losses charged to 
expense. When management believes that the collectabi\ity of the principal is unlikely, loans are charged against the ALLL. Subsequent 
recoveries, if any, are credited to the ALLL. 

The ALLL is management's estimate of probable losses that are inherent in the loan portfolio . The ALLL is based on regular quarterly 
assessments . The methodologies for measuring the appropriate level of the ALLL include the combination of a quantitative historical loss 
history by loan type and a qualitative analysis for loans not classified as impaired or TDRs, and a specific allowance method for impaired and 
TDR loans. The qualitative analysis is patterned after the guidelines provided under the Securities Exchange Commission ("SEC") Staff 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Accounting Bulletin 102 and the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council ("FFIEC") Interagency Policy Statement on the Allowance 
for Loan and Lease Losses and include the following: 

Changes in lending policies and procedures, including underwriting standards and collection, charge-off, and recovery practices; 
Changes in national economic and business conditions and developments and the effect of unemployment on African Americans, who 
are the majority of our customers; 
Changes in the nature and volume of the loan portfolio; 
Changes in the experience, ability, and depth oflending management and staff; 
Changes in trends of the volume and severity of past due and classified loans; and changes in trends in the volume of non-accrual 
loans, troubled debt restructurings and classified loans; 
Changes in the quality of the loan review system and the degree of oversight by the Bank's Board of Directors; 
The existence and effect of any concentrations of credit, and changes in the level of such concentrations; and 
The effect of external factors such as competition and legal and regulatory requirements. 

Management has developed, from historical loan and economic information, quantitative drivers for certain qualitative factors. Management has 
identified which factors, by nature, are subjective, such as lending policies, competition, and regulatory requirements. The quantitative 
drivers, to which different weights are assigned based on management's judgment, are reviewed and updated quarterly. The quantitative loss 
history was based on a five-year rolling look back period at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

A specific ALLL is established for loans identified as impaired or TDRs, based on significant conditions or circumstances related to the 
specific credits. The specific allowance amounts are determined by a method prescribed by Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 310, 
Receivables. Loans identified as impaired are accounted for in accordance with one of three valuations: (i) the present value of future cash 
flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate; (ii) the loan's observable market price, or (iii) the fair value of the collateral, if the loan is 
collateral dependent, less estimated liquidation costs. A loan is considered impaired when it is probable that not all amounts due (principal 
and interest) will be collectible according to the original contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors considered by management in 
determining impairment include payment status, collateral value and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments 
when due. Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. The significance 
of payment delays and payment shortfalls are considered on a loan-by-loan basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding 
the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower's prior payment record, and the amount 
of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed. 

For commercial business, faith-based non-profit, real estate and certain consumer loans, the measurement of loan impairment is based on the 
present value of the expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's effective interest rate, or on the fair value of the loan's collateral if 
the loan is collateral dependent. Most consumer loans are smaller balance and homogeneous, and are evaluated for impairment on a collective 
basis, applying the quantitative loss history and the qualitative factors. Impairment losses are included in the ALLL through a charge to the 
provision for loan losses. 

The Company uses several credit quality indicators to manage credit risk in an ongoing manner. The Company's risk rating system was developed 
to aid in the risk management process by grouping credits with similar risk profiles into pass, special mention, substandard or doubtful categories. 
Credit risk ratings are applied individually to all classes of loans and leases. Internal credit reviews and external contracted credit review 
examinations are used to determine and validate loan risk grades. The credit review system takes into consideration factors such as: borrower's 
background and experience; historical and current financial condition; credit history and payment performance; economic conditions and 
their impact on various industries; type, market value and volatility of the market value of collateral; lien position; and the financial 
strength of guarantors. 

The process of assessing the adequacy of the ALLL is necessarily subjective. Further, and particularly in periods of economic downturns, it is 
reasonably possible that future credit losses may exceed historical loss levels and may also exceed management's current estimates of 
incurred credit losses inherent within the loan portfolio. As such, there can be no assurance that future loan charge-offs will not exceed 
management's current estimate of what constitutes a reasonable ALLL. 

The Company and the Bank are subject to periodic examination by their federal and state regulators, and may be required by such regulators 
to recognize additions to the allowance for loan losses based on their assessment of credit information available to them at the time of 
their examinations. 

Reserve for Unfunded Commitments - The Unfunded Reserve is a component of other liabilities and represents the estimate for probable 
credit losses inherent in unfunded commitments to extend credit. Unfunded commitments to extend credit include unfunded loans with available 
balances, new commitments to lend that are not yet funded, and standby and commercial letters of credit. The process used to determine 
the Unfunded Reserve is consistent with the process for determining the ALLL, as adjusted for estimated funding probabilities and historical 
five-year rolling look back quantitative loan loss factor at December 31, 2018 and 2017. The level of the Unfunded Reserve is adjusted by recording 
an expense or recovery in other noninterest expense. The balances of $21 thousand and $48 thousand for December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively, were reflected in other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

Bank Premises and Equipment, Net - Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. For 
financial reporting purposes, depreciation and amortization are computed by the straight-line method and are charged to operations over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 30-50 years for premises; generally 6-10 years for furniture and equipment, and 3-5 
years for information technology equipment and software. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the respective leases or the 
useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. The Bank reviews 
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M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such assets may not be 
recoverable . If the sum of the expected cash flows attributable to an asset is less than the stated amount of the asset, an impairment loss is 
recognized in the current period and charged to operations. Upon disposition, the asset and related accumulated depreciation and/or 
amortization are relieved, and any gains or losses are reflected in operations. 

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance - The Bank maintains life insurance on certain current and former officers and directors, of which the 
Bank is owner and beneficiary. The cash surrender value of the policies at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $9.0 million and $8.7 million, 
respectively. Income from the policies and changes in the net cash surrender value, excluding additional purchases or withdrawals, are recorded 
in noninterest income. 

OREO - OREO, which represents real estate acquired through foreclosure, or the transfer of the deed in lieu of foreclosure in satisfaction of 
commercial and consumer real estate collateralized loans, is initially recorded at fair value less estimated holding and selling costs of the real 
estate. Loan balances in excess of the fair value of the real estate acquired at the date of the foreclosure are charged to the ALLL. Any 
subsequent operating expenses or income, reduction in estimated fair values, and gains or losses on disposition of such properties are charged 
or credited to non-interest income or non-interest expense. Valuations are periodically performed by management, and any subsequent write­
downs due to the carrying value of a property exceeding its estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell are charged against other non­
interest expense. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were none and $0.1 million, respectively, of foreclosed properties included in OREO 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets of which none was residential real estate; all were commercial real estate. OREO excludes bank-owned property 
held for Company use at December 31, 2018 and 2017. At December 31, 2018, there were no loans co!lateralized by residential real estate in the process of 
foreclosure. 

Revenue from Contract with Customers -All of the Company's revenues that are within the scope of ASC 606 are recognized within noninterest 
income. The following table presents the Company's sources of noninterest income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. Items outside 
the scope of ASC 606 are noted as such. 

Noninterest income: 

Service charges 

Rental income (1) 

Cash surrender value of life insurance (1) 

Realized g,;i.in on sale ofloan (1) 

Realized loss on disposal of assets (1) 

Other income (2) 
Total noninterest income 

(1) Not within the scope of ASC 606 
(2) Portions within the scope of ASC 606, but not material 

$ 

$ 

For th e Ye ars Ended 

D ecember 31, 

2018 2017 

1,543 $ 1,435 

288 

252 253 

19 30 
(6) 

424 310 
2,238 $ 2,310 

There were no impairment losses recognized on any receivables or contract assets arising from the Company 's contracts with customers during the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. While the Company have noninterest income related to rental income, changes in cash surrender value 
of life insurance and sales of investments, these are not within the scope of ASC 606. 

The service charge revenue generated from contracts with customers is noninterest income and relates to fees charged on deposit accounts and certain 
loan fees . The revenues generated from each of these contracts are recognized when a performance obligation is met and each obligation is associated 
with a transaction tied to the account or the opening of the account. Given each of these accounts are transactional and the contract is a day-to-day 
contract, the performance obligations on these accounts occurs when the contract provision is triggered on the account, which results in the related 
service charge. Based on the Company's analysis, there are no fees generated for opening account or for a service on the account where the good or 
service has not been transferred or prior to the performance obligation being met. 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company did not have amounts of material receivables, contract assets or contract liabilities tied to these 
contracts with customers. The Company believes that while loan and deposit accounts generate service charge income, these contracts do not create 
receivables, assets or liabilities given the fees associated with these service charges are typically charged and collected once the performance 
obligation is triggered. In addition, during the years ended December 3 I, 2018 and 2017, the Company did not recognize revenue that was included 
in any contract liabilities and no revenues were recognized related to performance obligations satisfied in prior reporting periods. 

The Company analyzes its payment streams associated with contracts with customers on a quarterly basis. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the 
nature of the performance obligations within the contracts generating these service charges on deposit and loan accounts have a duration of one year 
or less. Also, based on the Company's analysis and the nature of the contracts discussed within this note, it was determined that there are no 
significant judgements associated with the recognition of revenue associated with these contracts. 

Based on the Company's analysis, each of the service charge revenues discussed above are associated with the transfer of services through 
administration of customer's deposit account or through an agreed-upon, fixed amount that is disclosed in the customer' s contract and are charged 
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to the customer when the related service is performed on the customer's account. In addition, based on the Company's analysis, none of the contracts 
discussed above required a material cost to obtain or fulfill the contract, which resulted in no capitalized asset associated with these contracts as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Based on the Company's analysis, the nature and timing of revenues generated from service charges on loan and deposit accounts were not materially 
impacted by the Company's adoption of ASC 606. While the Company applied the new guidance based on a modified retrospective adjustment to 
all contracts with customers that were not completed as of December 31, 2017, there was no adjustment made to the December 31, 2017 retained 
earnings based on the immateriality of the standard's impact on the Company's income statement. 

Earnings Per Share - Earnings per share are calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for 
the purpose of computing the basic earnings per share and the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus dilutive 
common stock equivalents, such as stock options, for the purpose of computing diluted earnings per share . As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
there were no stock options outstanding. 

Advertising Costs - Advertising is expensed as incurred. 

Income Taxes - Provisions for income taxes are based on amounts reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations (after exclusion 
of non- taxable income such as interest on state and municipal securities) and include changes in deferred income taxes. Deferred tax asset 
and liability balances reflect temporary differences at the tax rate expected to be in effect when taxes will become payable or receivable. 
Temporary differences are differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years. The effect of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the 
period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded for deferred tax assets if the Company determines that it is more 
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company regularly reviews its deferred tax 
assets for recoverability considering historical profitability, projected future taxable income, and the expected timing of the reversals of existing 
temporary differences and tax planning strategies. 

When tax returns are filed, it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, while 
others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the position that ultimately would be sustained. The 
benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in the period during which, based on all available evidence, management 
believes it is more- likely-than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation process, 
if any. The evaluation of a tax position taken is considered by itself and not offset or aggregated with other positions. Tax positions that 
meet the more-likely-than not recognition threshold are measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely of being 
realized upon settlement with the applicable taxing authority. The portion of benefits associated with tax positions taken that exceeds the 
amount measured as described above is reflected as a liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets along with any associated interest and penalties that would be payable to the taxing authorities upon examination. Interest and penalties 
associated with unrecognized tax benefits are recognized in income tax expense on the income statement. It is the Company's policy to recognize 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax liabilities within income tax expense in the statements of income. The Company does not 
have an accrual for uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, as deductions taken and benefits accrued are based on widely 
understood administrative practices and procedures and are based on tax law. The Company's federal and state income tax returns are subject 
to review and examination by government authorities. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company's equity during the period from transactions and 
other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Total comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other 
comprehensive income (loss). The Company's other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated other comprehensive loss are comprised 
of net unrealized gains and losses on certain investments in debt securities and post-retirement plans. Information concerning the Company's 
other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated comprehensive loss as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented 
in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss. 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments - Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other 
assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note 18. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest 
rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or 
in market conditions could significantly affect the estimates. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants on the measurement date. GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those 
assumptions. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets (observable inputs) and the lowest priority to 
the Company's assumptions (unobservable inputs). GAAP requires fair value measurements to be separately disclosed by level within the fair 
value hierarchy. For assets and liabilities recorded at fair value, the Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of 
unobservable inputs when developing fair value measurements. 

The Company utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and to determine fair 
value disclosures. Available-for-sale investment securities are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Additionally, the Company may be 
required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as loans held for sale, loans held for investment and certain other assets. 

Under GAAP, the Company groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities 
are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. The Company did not have any changes in leveling inputs in 20 l 8. 

These levels are: 
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Level I - Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the New York Stock Exchange. 

Level 2 - Valuations are obtained from readily available pricing sources via independent providers for market transactions involving similar 
assets or liabilities. The Company's principal market for these securities is the secondary institutional markets and valuations are based on 
observable market data in those markets. Level 2 securities include U.S. Government agency securities ("U.S. Agencies"), U.S. Government 
sponsored residential mortgage backed securities ("MBS") and State and Municipal Bonds ("Municipals"). 

Level 3 - Valuations for assets and liabilities that are derived from other valuation methodologies, including option pricing models, 
discounted cash flow models and similar techniques, and not based on market exchange, dealer, or broker traded transactions. Level 3 
valuations incorporate certain assumptions and projections in determining the fair value assigned to such assets. 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period . Material estimates that are susceptible to change in the near 
term relate to the determination of the ALLL and the provision for loan losses, the evaluation of other-than-temporary impairment of 
investment securities, accounting for deferred tax assets and related valuation allowances, the determination of the fair values of 
investment securities and other accounting for incentive compensation, and post-retirement benefits. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Significant Group Concentrations - Most of the Bank's acttv1t1es are with customers located within the state of NC. The Bank does 
have concentrations with respect to loans to and deposits from faith-based non-profit organizations as outlined in Note 6 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

New Accounting Pronouncements -

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("F ASB") issued guidance to change the recognition ofrevenue from contracts with customers. 
The core principle of the new guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to reflect the transfer of goods and services to customers in an amount 
equal to the consideration the entity receives or expects to receive. The guidance was effective for the Company for reporting periods beginning on 
January I, 2018. 

The Company applied the guidance using a modified retrospective approach. The Company's revenue is comprised of net interest income and 
noninterest income. The scope of the guidance explicitly excludes net interest income as well as many other revenues for financial assets and liabilities 
including loans, leases, securities, and derivatives. Accordingly, the majority of our revenues were not affected. The Company has performed an 
assessment of its revenue contracts related to revenue streams that are within the scope of the standard. Our accounting policies did not change 
materially since the principles of revenue recognition from the Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") are largely consistent with existing guidance 
and current practices applied by our businesses. We have not identified material changes to the timing or amount of revenue recognition. Based on 
the updated guidance, we made changes in our disclosures associated with our revenues. We have provided qualitative disclosures of our performance 
obligations related to our revenue recognition, and we continue to evaluate disaggregation for significant categories of revenue in the scope of the 
guidance. 

In January 2016, the FASB amended the Financial Instruments topic of the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") to address certain aspects of 
recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. This update is intended to improve the recognition and measurement 
of financial instruments and it requires an entity to: (i) measure equity investments at fair value through net income, with certain exceptions; (ii) present 
in other comprehensive income the changes in instrument-specific credit risk for financial liabilities measured using the fair value option; (iii) present 
financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset; (iv) calculate the fair value of financial instrnments for 
disclosure purposes based on an exit price and; (v) assess a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets related to unrealized losses of available for sale 
debt securities in combination with other deferred tax assets. The guidance also provides an election to subsequently measure certain nonrnarketable 
equity investments at cost less any impairment and adjusted for certain observable price changes and requires a qualitative impairment assessment of 
such equity investments and amends certain fair value disclosure requirements. The amendments were effective for the Company on January 1, 2018 
and the adoption of the guidance did not have a material effect on its financial statements. 

In February 2016, the FASB amended the Leases topic of the ASC to revise certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure 
ofleasing transactions. The amendments will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those 
fiscal years. 

We expect to adopt the guidance using the modified retrospective method and practical expedients for transition. The practical expedients allow us to 
largely account for our existing leases consistent with current guidance except for the incremental balance sheet recognition for lessees. We have 
completed an evaluation of our leasing contracts and activities. We have also developed our methodology to estimate the right-of use ("ROU") assets 
and lease liabilities, which is based on the present value of!ease payments (the December 31, 2018 future minimum lease payments were $1.4 million). 
We estimate the ROU asset to be $1.2 million, and the lease liabilities to be $1.2 million with an equity adjustment of $41 thousand. We do not expect 
a material change to the timing of expense recognition. We are evaluating our existing disclosures and may need to provide additional information as 
a result of adoption of the ASU. 

In March 2016, the FASB amended the Revenue from Contracts with Customers topic of the ASC to clarify the implementation guidance on principal 
versus agent considerations and address how an entity should assess whether it is the principal or the agent in contracts that include three or more 
parties. The amendments were effective for the Company on January 1, 2018. These amendments did not have a material effect on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements. 
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In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance to change the accounting for credit losses and modify the impairment model for certain debt securities. The 
amendments will be effective for the Company for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for all 
organizations for periods beginning after December 15, 2018. 

The Company will apply the amendments to the ASU through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the year of 
adoption. While early adoption is permitted beginning in first quarter 2019, we do not expect to elect that option. We are evaluating the impact of the 
ASU on our consolidated financial statements. We expect the ASU will result in an increase in the recorded allowance for loan losses given the change 
to estimated losses over the contractual life of the loans adjusted for expected prepayments. The majority of the increase results from longer duration 
portfolios. In addition to our allowance for loan losses, we will also record an allowance for credit losses on debt securities instead of applying the 
impairment model currently utilized. The amount of the adjustments will be impacted by each portfolio's composition and credit quality at the adoption 
date as well as economic conditions and forecasts at that time. 

In August 2016, the F ASB amended the Statement of Cash Flows topic of the ASC to clarify how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented 
and classified in the statement of cash flows. The amendments were effective for the Company on January 1, 2018. These amendments did not have 
material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

In February 2017, the FASB amended the Other Income Topic of the ASC to clarify the scope of the guidance on nonfinancial asset derecognition as 
well as the accounting for partial sales of nonfinancial assets. The amendments conform the derecognition guidance on nonfinancial assets with the 
model for transactions in the new revenue standard. The amendments were effective for the Company for reporting periods on January 1, 2018. These 
amendments did not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2017, the FASB amended the requirements in the Compensation-Retirement Benefits Topic of the ASC related to the income statement 
presentation of the components of net periodic benefit cost for an entity's sponsored defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans. The 
amendments were effective for the Company for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption was permitted. These 
amendments did not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2017, the FASB amended the requirements in the Receivables-Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs Topic of the ASC related to the 
amortization period for certain purchased callable debt securities held at a premium. The amendments shorten the amortization period for the premium 
to the earliest call date. The amendments were effective for the Company for interim and annual periods beginning on January 1, 2018. These 
amendments did not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

In July 2018, the FASB amended the Leases Topic of the ASC to make narrow amendments to clarify how to apply certain aspects of the new leases 
standard. The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 31, 2018. These amendments did not have a material effect 
on the Company's financial statements. 

In July 2018, the FASB amended the Leases Topic of the ASC to give entities another option for transition and to provide lessors with a practical 
expedient. The amendments will be effective for the Company for reporting periods after December 15, 2018. The Company does not expect these 
amendments to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements. 

In August 2018, the FASB amended the Fair Value Measurement Topic of the ASC. The amendments remove, modify, and add certain fair value 
disclosure requirements based on the concepts in the F ASB Concepts Statement, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting- Chapter 8: Notes 
to Financial Statements. The amendments are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after 
December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. An entity is permitted to early adopt any removed or modified disclosures upon issuance of this ASU 
and delay adoption of the additional disclosures until their effective date. The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material effect 
on its consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2018, the FASB issued guidance that providing narrow-scope improvements for lessors, that provides relief in the accounting for sales, 
use and similar taxes, the accounting for other costs paid by a lessee that may benefit a lessor, and variable payments when contracts have lease and 
non-lease components. The amendments will be effective for the Company for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption 
is permitted. The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements. 

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not expected to have a material impact 
on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

2. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

The main objectives of the Company ' s investment strategy are to provide a source of liquidity while managing our interest rate risk, and 
to generate an adequate level of interest income without taking undue risks. The Company's investment policy permits investments in various 
types of securities, certificates of deposit and federal funds sold in compliance with various restrictions in the policy. As of December 31, 
2018 and 2017, all investment securities were classified as available-for-sale. 

The Company's available-for-sale securities totaled $50.8 million and $57.5 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. In the 
normal course of business, the Company pledges securities to the FRB and to public housing authorities in NC and the NC Department of State 
Treasurer ("State Treasurer") as collateral for public deposits. The following table shows the amounts pledged: 
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(Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 

Pledged to FRB 
Pledged to public housing authorities 
Pledged to the State Treasurer 

The Company's investment portfolio consists of the following securities: 

U.S. Government agency securities ("U.S. Agencies") 
U.S. Government sponsored residential mortgage backed securities ("MBS"), and 
Municipal securities ("Municipals") 

$ 1,258 
2,605 

20,391 

$ 1,288 
2,010 

18,380 

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and fair values of investment securities at December 31, 2018 and 2017 were: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

December 31, 2018 
U.S. Agencies 
MBS 

Residential 
Municipals 
Total 

December 31, 2017 
U.S. Agencies 
MBS 

Residential 
Municipals 
Total 

Amortized 
Cost 

$ 18,315 

32,694 
1,788 

$ 52,797 

$ 18,313 

38,708 
1,821 

$ 58,842 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

$ 

$ 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(642) 

(1,351) 
(51) 

(2,044) 

(480) 

(830) 
(44) 

(1,354) 

Fair Value 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

17,673 

31,343 
1,737 

50,753 

17,833 

37,878 
1,777 

57,488 

There were no sales of securities available-for-sale for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, and as a result no aggregate gross realized gains or 
losses were realized. 

The amortized cost and estimated market values of securities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 by contractual maturities with the exception of 
MBS, which reflects projected cash flow streams, are shown below. Actual maturities may differ, because borrowers may have the right to 
call or prepay MBS, collateralized mortgage obligations, agency securities, and municipal bonds with or without call or prepayment penalties. 
Certain mortgage-backed securities have adjustable interest rates and will reprice within the various maturity ranges. These repricing 
schedules are not reflected in the following table. 
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(Dollars in thousands) As of December 31, 2018 
Fair Value Amortized Cost 

U.S. Agencies 
Due within one year $ 6,896 $ 7,150 
Due after one year through five years 8,866 9,165 
Due after five years through ten years 1,9 11 2,000 

Total U.S. Agencies $ 17,673 $ 18,315 

MBS 
Residential 

Due within one year $ 4,666 $ 4,855 
Due after one year through five years 12,872 13,417 
Due after five years through ten years 8,886 9,276 
Due after ten years 4,919 5,146 

Tota!MBS $ 31,343 $ 32,694 

Municipals 
Due after one year through five years $ 1,258 $ 1,281 
Due after five years through ten years 479 507 

Total Municipals $ 1,737 $ 1,788 

(Dollars in thousands) As of December 31, 2017 
Fair Value Amortized Cost 

U.S. Agencies 
Due after one year through five years $ 11,964 $ 12,313 
Due after five years through ten years 5,869 6,000 

Total U.S. Agencies $ 17,833 $ 18,313 

MBS 
Residential 

Due within one year $ 6,241 $ 6,374 
Due after one year through five years 16,239 16,587 
Due after five years through ten years 10,014 10,235 
Due after ten years 5,384 5,512 

Total MBS $ 37,878 $ 38,708 

Municipals 
Due after one year through five years $ 729 $ 751 
Due after five years through ten years 1,048 1,070 

Total Municipals $ 1,777 $ 1,821 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of securities with gross unrealized losses by length of time that the individual securities 
have been in an unrealized loss position is as follows: 

17 



(Dollars in thousands) 

December 31, 2018 
U.S. Agencies 
MBS 

Residential 
M unicipals 
Total 

(Dollars in thousands) 

December 31, 2017 
U.S. Agencies 
MBS 

Res idential 
Municipals 
Total 

M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to Consolida ted Financia l Statements 

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater 
Unrealized Unrealized 

Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses 

$ $ $ 17,673 $ (642) 

3L)43 (1,351) 
1,737 (51) 

$ $ $ 50,753 $ (2,044) 

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater 
Unrealized Unrealized 

Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses 

$ 17,833 $ (480) $ $ 

1,330 (12) 36,548 (818) 
1,217 (44) 

$ 20,380 $ (536) $ 36,548 $ (818) 

Total 
Unreali ze d 

Fair Value Losses 

$ 17,673 $ (642) 

31,343 (1,351) 
1,737 (51) 

$ 50,753 $ (2,044) 

Total 
Unrealized 

Fair Value Losses 

$ 17,833 $ (480) 

37,878 (830) 
1,217 (44) 

$ 56,928 $ (1,354) 

All securities owned as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were investment grade. The Company evaluates securities for other-than- temporary 
impairment, at least on a quarterly basis. Consideration is given to the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, the length 
of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, and our intent and ability to retain our investment in the issuer for a period 
of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. As ofDecember 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company held 54 and 53 investment 
positions, respectively, with unrealized losses of $2.0 million and $1.4 million, respectively. These investments were in U.S. Agencies, MBS 
and municipals. In analyzing an issuer's financial condition, management considers whether the securities are issued by the federal 
government or its agencies, whether downgrades by bond rating agencies have occurred, and industry analysts' reports. Management has 
determined that all declines in the market value of available-for-sale securities are not other-than-temporary, and will not be likely required to sell. 

3. FHLB STOCK 

To be a member of the FHLB System, the Bank is required to maintain an investment in capital stock of the FHLB. Periodically, the FHLB 
recalculates the Bank's required level of holdings, and the Bank either buys more stock or redeems a portion of the stock at cost. The carrying value 
of FHLB stock, which is included in other invested assets, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $0.3 million. No ready market exists for 
the FHLB stock, and it has no quoted market value; however, management believes that the cost approximates the market value as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. Management has reviewed its investment in FHLB stock for impairment and does not believe it is impaired as of 
December 31, 2018 or 2017. The FHLB of Atlanta in which the Company owns stock has been profitable in each of the years ended December 
31, 2018 and 2017. 

4. RECONCILIATIONS OF BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ("EPS") 

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number shares of common stock outstanding for the 
period. Basic EPS excludes the dilutive effect that could occur if any options or warrants to purchase shares of common stock were exercised. 
Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding 
for the period plus the number of additional shares of common stock that would have been outstanding if the potentially dilutive common 
shares had been issued. There are no stock options or warrants outstanding for any of the periods being reported. 

5. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

Comprehensive loss includes net income (loss) and all other changes to the Company's equity, with the exception of transactions with stockholders. 
The Company's other comprehensive loss and accumulated other comprehensive loss are comprised of unrealized gains and losses on certain 
investments in debt securities and defined benefit plan adjustments. 
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CHANGES IN ACCUMUIAT.ED OTHERCOMPREHENSIVELOSS BY COMPONENT 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Balance as of December 31, 2016 
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Net current-period other comprehensive income 
Balance as of December 31, 2017 

Balance as of December 31, 2017 
Other comprehensive loss 

Net current-period other comprehensive loss 
Balance as of December 31, 2018 

All amounts are net of tax. 

Unrealized 
Gains and 
Losses on 

Available-for­
Sale 

S ecurities 
$ (1,077) 

211 

(176) 
35 

$ (1,042) 

$ 

$ 

(1,042) 
(532) 
(532) 

(1,574) 

Defined 
Benefit 

Pension Items 
$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(1,404) 
238 

(237) 

(1,403) 

(1,403) 
(226) 
(226) 

(1,629) 

Total 
$ (2,481) 

449 
(4 13) 

36 
$ (2,445) 

$ 

$ 

(2,445) 
(758) 
(758) 

(3,203) 

RECIASSIFICATION ADJUSTMENTS FROM ACCUMUIATED OTHER COMPIUI ImS IVELOS S 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Dctnil about Accumulntcd Other Comprcbcnsil'c l.o . Com1>0ncnr 
Net unrealized holding gains - inves tment securities avaUable-for-sale 
Income tax expense 

Reclassification of accumulated comprehensive loss due to tax rate change 
Total, net of tax 

Amortization of defined benefit pension 
Income tax expense 

Reclassification ofaccumulated comprehensive loss due to tax rate change 
Total, net of tax 

Total reclassifications for the period 

6. LOANS AND ALLL 

For the Years Ended December 31 , 
2018 2017 

Amount Reclass ified 
from Accumulated 

Other Comprehensive 
Loss 

$ 

Amount Reclassified 
from Accumulated 

Other Comprehensive Affected Line Item in the Consolidated 
Loss Statements of Income 

$ - Net realized gains on sales of investments 
- Income tax expense 

(176) Income tax expense 
- - ----(-17_6_) Total, net of tax 

- Salaries and employee benefits 
- Income tax expense 

(237) Income tax expense ---- -~-~ 
(237) Total, net of tax ------ - -

$ (413) 

The ALLL is management's estimate of losses inherent in the loan portfolio. The provision for loan losses is the amount charged against 
earnings to establish an adequate ALLL. Loan losses and recoveries are charged to or credited to the ALLL, rather than reported as a direct 
expense or recovery. The loan portfolio is segmented into three parts for the ALLL calculation: impaired commercial loans and smaller balance 
homogenous loans in the process of foreclosure, TDRs (collectively referred to as "impaired loans"), and all other loans. 

For all classes of commercial loans, a quarterly evaluation of specific individual borrowers is performed to identify impaired loans. The 
identification of specific borrowers for review is based on a review of non-accrual loans as well as those loans specifically identified by 
management as exhibiting above average levels of risk through the loan classification process. The ALLL attributed to impaired loans and 
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TDRs considers all available evidence based on significant conditions or circumstances related to the specific credits. The specific 
allowance amounts are determined by a method prescribed by ASC 310. The loans identified as impaired and TD Rs are accounted for in 
accordance with one of three valuations: (i) the present value of future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate; (ii) the 
loan's observable market price, or (iii) the fair value of the collateral, if the loan is collateral dependent, less estimated liquidation costs. Factors 
considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, alternate use of special purpose real estate 
which could adversely impact resale, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that 
experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. The significance of payment delays 
and payment shortfalls are considered on a loan-by-loan basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and 
the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower's prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall 
in relation to the principal and interest owed. Interest payments made on impaired loans are typically applied to principal unless collectability of 
the principal amount is reasonably assured, in which case interest income may be accrued or recognized on a cash basis. 

Most consumer loans are evaluated for impairment on a collective basis, because these loans are for smaller balances and are homogeneous. 
Any loans, including commercial loans, not specifically identified as impaired or TDRs, are collectively evaluated and segmented by loan type, 
applying two factors: the quantitative loss history by loan type for the previous five year periods at December 31, 2018 and 2017 compared 
to average loans outstanding for the same period (the "quantitative factor"), and a qualitative factor that is comprised of quantitatively-driven 
calculations based on historical data, and subjective factors (the "qualitative factors"). The quantitative portion of the ALLL is adjusted for 
qualitative factors to account for model imprecision and to incorporate the range of probable outcomes inherent in the estimates used for the 
allowance. 

The quantitative factor by loan type is applied against the unimpaired loan balances and smaller-balance homogenous impaired loans not 
in the process of foreclosure for which there is no specific reserve to determine the quantitative reserve. The qualitative factors, including 
(i) policy underwriting, charge-off and collection, (ii) national and local economic conditions, (iii) nature and volume of the portfolio, (iv) 
experience, ability, and depth of lending team, (v) trends of past due, classified loans, and restructurings, (vi) quality of loan review and board 
oversight, (vii) existence, levels, and effect of loan concentrations and (viii) effects of external factors such as competition and regu!Htory 
oversight, are adjusted quarterly based on historical information for any quantifiable factors and qualitative judgments for subjective factors 
(those considered subjective are policy, underwriting, experience, ability and depth of lending team, quality ofloan review and board oversight, 
and effects of external factors), and applied in total to each loan balance by loan type. The Company continues to enhance its modeling of 
the portfolio and underlying risk factors through quarterly analytical reviews with the goal of ensuring it captures all pertinent factors 
contributing to risk of loss inherent in the loan portfolio. Under ASC 310, the non-homogenous impaired loans, homogenous small balance 
real estate secured loans in process of foreclosure for which the value is less than the loan principal balance, and TDRs, are reviewed individually 
for impairment. 

The process of assessing the adequacy of the ALLL is inherently subjective. Further, and particularly in terms of economic downturns, 
it is reasonably possible that future credit losses may exceed historical loss levels and may also exceed management's current estimates of 
incurred credit losses inherent within the loan portfolio. As such, there can be no assurance that future loan charge-offs will not exceed 
management's current estimate of what constitutes a reasonable allowance for loan losses. 

The Company and the Bank are subject to periodic examination by their federal and state banking regulators, and may be required by their 
regulators to recognize additions to the allowance for loan losses based on their assessment of credit information available to them at the 
time of their examinations. 

Loans are generally placed on non-accrual status when the scheduled payments reach 90 days past due. Loans are charged-off, with Board 
of Directors' approval, when the Chief Credit Officer and his staff determine that all reasonable means of collection of the outstanding balances, 
except foreclosure, have been exhausted. The Company continues its collection efforts subsequent to charge-off, which historically has resulted 
in some recoveries each year. 

The composition of the loan portfolio, net of deferred fees and costs, by loan classification as of December 31, 2018 and 2017: 
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(Dollars in thousands) 

Commercial 

Commercial real estate: 

Construction 
Owner occupied 

Other 
Faith-based non-profit: 

Construction 
Owner occupied 

Other 
Residential real estate: 

First mortgage 

Multifamily 

Home equity 

Construction 
Consumer 
Other loans 

Loans, net of deferred fees 
ALLL 
Loans, net of ALLL 

M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
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December 31, 2018 

$ 17,462 

11,228 

25,411 

30,603 

1,262 

67,878 
612 

13,872 
1,908 

3,182 

962 

69 
174,449 

(2,079) 
$ 172,370 

*Negative value represents net deferred fees on a construction loan, which had not yet advanced any funds on the loan. 

December 31, 2017 

$ 12,128 

6,994 
31,940 

17,393 

(2) * 

69,938 
3,069 

6,588 
2,089 

2,235 

83 
1,057 

53 

153,565 
(1,885) 

$ 151,680 

The Bank has a concentration of Joans to faith-based non-profit organizations, in which the Bank has specialized lending experience. At 
December 31, 2018, the percentage of loans in this segment, which included construction, owner occupied real estate secured and other loans, 
comprised 39.98% of the total loan portfolio. The reserve allocated for these loans was 38.48% of the total ALLL. Historically the Bank has 
experienced low levels of loan losses in this segment; however, repayment of these loans is generally dependent on voluntary contributions, 
some of which had been adversely affected during the economic downturn. 

Management has identified its loan-related disclosure classifications in its financial reports to present portfolio segments. A portfolio segment 
is defined as the level at which an entity develops and documents a systematic methodology to determine its ALLL. The following tables 
present the reported investment in loans, net of deferred fees and costs, by portfolio segment and based on impairment method and related 
ALLL as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively: 
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December 31, 2018 
Faith 
Based 

Commercial Non- Residential Other 
(Dollars in thousands) Commercial Real Estate Profit Real Estate Consumer Loans Total 
ALLL: 

Ending ALLL balance attributable to loans: 
Individually 
evaluated for 
impairment $ $ $ 265 $ $ $ $ 265 
Collectively 
evaluated for 
impairment 76 975 535 190 20 18 1,814 

Total ending 
ALLL balance $ 76 $ 975 $ 800 $ 190 $ 20 $ 18 $ 2,079 

Loans: 
Loans individually 
evaluated for 
impairment $ $ $ 10,075 $ 8 $ $ $ 10,083 
Loans collectively 
evaluated for 
impairment 17,462 67,242 59,677 18,954 962 69 164,366 

Total ending 
loans balance $ 17,462 $ 67,242 $ 69,752 $ 18,962 $ 962 $ 69 $ 174,449 

December 31, 2017 
Faith 
Based 

Commercial Non- Residential Other 
(Dollars in thousands) Commercial Real Estate Profit Real Estate Consumer Loans Total 
ALLL: 

EndingALLL balance attributable to loans: 
Individually 
evaluated for 
impairment $ $ 66 $ 153 $ 12 $ $ $ 231 
Collectively 
evaluated for 
impairment 28 845 628 115 30 8 1,654 

Total ending 
ALLL balance $ 28 $ 911 $ 781 $ 127 $ 30 $ 8 $ 1,885 

Loans : 
Loans individually 
evaluated for 
impairment $ 1,024 $ 4,495 $ 8,776 $ 480 $ $ $ 14,775 
Loans collectively 
evaluated for 
impairment 11,104 51,832 64,229 10,515 1,057 53 138,790 

Total ending 
loans balance $ 12,128 $ 56,327 $ 73,005 $ 10,995 $ 1,057 $ 53 $ 153,565 
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(Dollars in thousands) 

ALLL: 

Total endingALLL balances as of 
December 31, 201 7 

For the year ended December 31, 2018 
Charge-offs 
Recoveries 
Provision for loan losses 

Total endingALLL balances as of 
December 31, 2018 

(Dollars in thousands) 

ALLL: 

Total endingALLL balances as of 
December 31, 2016 

Fort hey ear ended December 31, 2017 
Charge-offs 
Recoveries 
Provision for loan losses 

Total endingALLL balances as of 
December 31, 2017 

M&F BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Residential 
Commercial 

Commercial Real Estate 

Faith­
Based 
Non­
Profit 

Real Other 
Estate Consumer Loans 

$ 28 $ 911 $ 781 $ 127 $ 30 $ 8 

(992) (103) (15) (38) 
1,293 9 5 9 
(253) 64 19 157 39 - --

$ 76 $ 975 $ 800 $ 190 $ 20 $ 18 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 
Faith-
Based Residential 

Commercial Non- Real Other 
Commercial Real Estate Profit Estate Consumer Loans ---

$ 92 $ 976 $ 1,161 $ 141 $ 34 $ 13 

(1,540) (165) (3) (24) (17) 
29 14 3 

1,476 (65) (215) (40) 6 9 ---

$ 28 $ 911 $ 781 $ 127 $ 30 $ 8 
= 

Total 

$ 1,885 

(1,148) 
1,316 

26 

$ 2,079 

Total 

$ 2,417 

(1,749) 
46 

1,171 

$ 1,885 

Net charge-offs/(net recoveries) totaled $(168) thousand and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Of the 
$1. 7 million in net charge-offs during 2017, approximately $1.5 million was related to one commercial loan, a syndicated loan participation, where 
the borrower had declared bankruptcy during 2017. During the first quarter of 2018, a further charge-off of $992 thousand occurred to fully remove 
the loan from Company's books when it appeared there was no further collectability on the loan. During the third quarter of 2018, $1.3 million 
was recovered on the loan when a third party purchased the Company's position in the outstanding debt. 
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The following tables show impaired loans with and without valuation allowances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

December 31, 2018 

Interest 

Unpaid Earned Average 

Principal Recorded AUL For the Recorded 

(Dollars in thousands) Balance Investment Allocated Year Investment 

With no related allowance recorded: 

Commercial $ $ $ $ 34 $ 127 

Commercial real estate: 

Owner occupied 

Faith bas.ed non-profit: 

Owner occupied 1,241 1,241 67 568 

Residential real estate: 

First mortgage 8 8 2 47 

Home equity 3 174 

Impaired loans with no allowance recorded $ 1,249 $ 1,249 $ $ 107 $ 916 

With an allowance recorded: 

Commercial real estate: 

Owner occupied $ $ $ $ $ 563 

Other 137 3,345 

Faith based non-profit: 

Owner occupied 8,834 8,850 265 460 9,482 

Residential real estate: 

Home equity 52 

Impaired loans with allowance recorded $ 8,834 $ 8,850 $ 265 $ 597 $ 13,442 

Total impaired loans $ 10,083 $ 10,099 $ 265 $ 704 $ 14,358 
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December 31, 2017 

Interest 

Unpaid Earned Average 

Principal Recorded AUL Forthe Recorded 

(Dollars in thousands) Balance Investment Allocated Year Investment 

With no related allowance recorded: 

Commercial $ 1,024 $ 1,024 $ $ 20 $ 128 

Commercial real estate: 

Other 15 190 

Faith based non-profit: 

Owner occupied 2,391 2,394 138 1,691 

Residential real estate: 

First mortg;ige 113 115 16 130 

Multifamily 12 56 

Home equity 229 233 11 204 

Impaired loans with no allowance recorded $ 3,757 $ 3,766 $ $ 212 $ 2,399 

With an allowance recorded: 

Commercial $ $ $ $ 109 $ 646 

Commercial real estate: 

Owner occupied 4,495 4,502 66 183 4,540 

Other 27 

Faith based non-profit: 

Owner occupied 6,385 6,404 153 282 7,558 

Residential real estate: 

First mortgi.ge 3 53 

Home equity 138 138 12 86 

Impaired loans with allowance recorded $ 11,018 $ 11,044 $ 231 $ 577 $ 12,910 

Total impaired loans $ 14,775 $ 14,8 10 $ 231 $ 789 $ 15,309 
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The recorded investment in loan balance includes the outstanding loan balance (net of any charge-offs), accrued interest, deferred fees and costs, 
and unamortized premium or discount, where applicable. 

The Bank modifies certain loans and provides a concession such as a reduced rate, extended terms, or reduction of principal and/or interest, 
in a TDR where the borrowers are experiencing financial difficulties. These concessions typically result from loss mitigation recommendations 
developed by the Bank's problem loan team. Concessions could include reductions in below market interest rates, payment extensions, 
forbearance or other actions. TDRs are generally classified as nonperforming at the time of restructuring and may only be returned to performing 
status after considering the borrower's sustained repayment performance for a reasonable period, generally six months. 

When loans are modified as TD Rs, the Bank evaluates each loan for any possible impairment based on the present value of expected future 
cash flows, discounted at the contractual interest rate of the original loan agreement, except when the repayment source is expected to be the 
liquidation of underlying collateral, in which cases the Bank uses the fair value of the collateral less selling costs, instead of discounted cash 
flows. If the Bank determines that the value of the modified loan is less than the recorded investment in the loan (net of previous charge­
offs, deferred loan fees or costs and unamortized premium or discount), impairment is recognized through an allowance allocation or a charge­
off to the allowance. 

The Bank completed one TDR during the year ended December 31, 2018 and none during the year ended December 31, 2017. The faith-based non­
profit TDR was secured by owner occupied commercial real estate. The restructured loan was in compliance with modified terms as of December 
31, 2018. Based upon financial analysis and the fair value of collateral, the Bank allocated $0.3 million and $0.2 million of specific reserves 
for TDRs at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

The following table presents details of TDR a loan that was restructured during the year ended December 31, 2018: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Below market interest rates: 

Faith-based non-profit: 

Owner occupied 
Total 

Number of loans 

TDR Modifications 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Pre-modification Outstanding 
Recorded Investment 

$ 1,362 
$ 1,362 

Post-modification Outstanding 
Recorded Investment 

$ 1,362 
$ 1,362 

The were no loans modified as a TDR with a payment default occurring within 12 months of the restructure date, during the years ended 
December 31, 2018 or 2017. 

The following tables present the recorded investment in non-accrual and loans past due over 90 days still on accrual by class of loans 
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

December 31, 2018 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Commercial real estate: 

Owner occupied 
Faith-based non-profit : 

Owner occupied 

Residential real estate: 

First mortgage 
Total 

Non-accrual 

$ 

1,241 

8 

$ 1,249 

N umber 

2 

3 

90 Days 
or More 

Past Due 
S till 

Accruing 

$ 47 

$ 47 

Number 

26 



December 31, 2017 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Commercial 
Commercial real estate: 

Other 
Faith-based non-profit: 

Owner occupied 
Residential real estate: 

First mortgage 
Home equity 

Total 
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Non-accrual 

$ 1,024 

1,099 

13 
367 

$ 2,503 

Number 

1 
3 
7 

90 Days 
or More 

Past Due 
Still 

Accruing 

$ 

$ 

Number 

Non-accrual loans and loans past due over 90 days still on accrual include both smaller balance homogenous loans that are collectively 
evaluated for impairment and individually classified impaired loans. Loans from which principal or interest is in default for 90 days or more 
are classified as a non-accrual unless they are well secured and in process of collection. Loans past due over 90 days still accruing were matured 
loans that were well secured and in process of collection. Borrowers have continued to make payments on these loans while administrative 
and legal due processes are proceeding which will enable the Bank to extend or modify maturity dates. 

Unrecognized income on non-accrual loans as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $5 thousand and $0.1 million. 

The following tables present loans not past due, and the aging of past due loans as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 by class of loans: 

December 31, 2018 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Commercial 
Commercial real estate: 

Construction 
Owner occupied 
Other 

Faith-based non-profit: 
Construction 

Owner occupied 
Other 

Residential real estate: 

First mort~ge 
Multifamily 

Home equity 
Consumer 
Other loans 
Total 

30-59 Days 
Past Due 

$ 

$ 

43 

144 

48 
29 

264 

60-89 Days 
Past Due 

$ 

5 

$ 5 

90Days 
Or More 
Past Due 

$ 

47 

225 

$ 272 

Total Past 
Due 

$ 

$ 

47 

268 

144 

48 
34 

541 

$ 

$ 

Current 

17,462 

11,228 

25,364 
30,603 

1,262 

67,610 
612 

13,728 

1,908 
3,134 

928 

69 
173,908 

Total 

$ 17,462 

11,228 

25,411 
30,603 

1,262 

67,878 

612 

13,872 

1,908 
3,182 

962 

69 
$ 174,449 
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90 Days 
December 31, 2017 30-59 Days 60-89 Days Or More Total Pas t 
(Dollars in thousands) Past Due Past Due Pas t Due Due Current Total 

Commercial $ $ $ $ $ 12,128 $ 12,128 

Commercial real estate: 

Construction 6,994 6,994 

Owner occupied 31,940 31,940 

Other 17,393 17,393 

Faith-based non-profit: 

Construction (2) * (2) * 

Owner occupied 11 238 249 69,689 69,938 

Other 3,069 3,069 

Residential real estate: 

First mortgage 54 54 6,534 6,588 

Multifamily 2,089 2,089 

Home equity 2,235 2,235 

Construction 83 83 

Consumer 1,057 1,057 

Other loans 53 53 
Total $ 65 $ 238 $ 303 $ 153,262 $ 153,565 

*Negative value represents net deferred fees on a construction loan, which has not yet advanced any funds on the loan. 

Non-accrual loans decreased $1.3 million as of December 31, 2018 compared to December 31, 2017, while total loans past due (including 
delinquent non-accrual loans) increased by $0 .2 million over the same period. Not reflected in the table above are non-accrual loans past due 
less than 30 days. As shown in the following tables at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, the Company had $1.0 million and $2.5 
million in non-accrual loans that were less than 30 days past due. 

The following tables displays all non-accrual loans and loans 90 or more days past due and still on accrual for the periods ended December 
31, 2018 and 2017. 

December 31, 2018 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Loans past due over 90 days still on accrual 
Non-accrual loans past due 

Less than 30 days 
30-59 days 
60-89 days 
90+ days 
Non-accrual loans 

December 31, 2017 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Loans past due over 90 days still on accrual 
Non-accrual loans past due 

Less than 30 days 
30-59 days 
60-89 days 
90+ days 
Non-accrual loans 

Amount Number 

$ 47 

$ 1,024 2 

225 
$ 1,249 3 

Am ount Number 

$ 

$ 2,503 7 

$ 2,503 7 

The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to service their debt such 
as current financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among 
other factors . The Company analyzes loans for reserves according to the loan's classification as to credit risk. This analysis includes homogenous 
loans, such as commercial, commercial real estate and faith based non-profit entities, and mortgage loans in process of foreclosure for which 
the loan to value does not support repayment in full. This analysis is performed on at least a quarterly basis. The Company uses the 
following definitions for risk ratings: 
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Special Mention. Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves management's close attention. If left 
uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of the institution's 
credit position at some future date . These loans exhibit a moderate likelihood of some loss related to those loans and leases that are 
considered special mention. 

Substandard. Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current sound financial repayment capacity and 
service coverage of the debtor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses 
that may jeopardize the liquidation of or repayment according to the original terms of the debt. In addition to commercial and faith-based 
non-profit loans with identified weaknesses, substandard loans include loans within the mortgage and consumer portfolio segments that are 
past due 90 days or more as to principal or interest if the loan to value does not support full repayment. Substandard loans are evaluated for 
impairment on an individual loan basis unless the substandard loan is a smaller balance homogenous loan that is not a TDR and is not in the 
process of foreclosure. These loan exhibits a distinct possibility that the company will sustain some loss if the deficiencies related to the 
loans is not corrected in a timely manner. 

Doubtful. Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, with the added 
characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, 
highly questionable and improbable. 

Pass. Loans are classified as pass in all classes within the commercial, faith-based non-profit, mortgage, consumer, and other 
portfolio segments that are not identified as special mention, substandard, or doubtful, are contractually current as to principal and 
interest, and are otherwise in compliance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement. These loans exhibit a low likelihood of 
loss related to loans that are considered pass. 

As of December 31, 2018, the risk category of loans by class of loans was as follows: 

December 31, 2018 
(Dollars in thousands) Pass Special Mention Substandard Doubtful Total 

Commercial $ 17,462 $ $ $ $ 17,462 
Commercial real estate: 

Construction 11,228 11,228 
Owner occupied 24,250 1,161 25,411 
Other 30,476 127 30,603 

Faith-based non-profit : 
Construction 1,262 1,262 
Owner occupied 60,683 7,195 67,878 
Other 612 612 

Residential real estate: 
First mortgJ:tge 13,864 8 13,872 
Multifamily 1,884 24 1,908 
Home equity 3,152 30 3,182 

Consumer 957 5 962 
Other loans 69 69 
Total $ 165,899 $ 1,342 $ 7,208 $ $ 174,449 
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As of December 31, 2017, the risk category of loans by class ofloans was as follows: 

December 31, 2017 
(Dollars in thousands) Pass Special Mention Substandard Doubtful 

Commercial $ 11,104 $ $ $ 1,024 
Commercial real estate: 

Construction 6,994 
Owner occupied 31,768 172 
Other 16,190 1,203 

Faith-based non-profit: 
Construction (2) * 
Owner occupied 63,723 6,215 
Other 3,069 

Residential real estate: 
First mortgage 6,474 114 
Multifamily 2,063 26 
Home equity 1,915 28 292 
Construction 83 

Consumer 1,046 6 5 
Other loans 53 
Total $ 144,480 $ 1,435 $ 6,626 $ 1,024 

*Negative value represents net deferred fees on a construction loan, which has not yet advanced any funds on the loan. 

7. BANK PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 

The following is a summary of bank premises and equipment, net as of December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Land 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 
Furniture and equipment 
Capital lease 
Construction in progress 
Bank premises and equipment 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 
Bank premises and equipment, net 

December 31 2018 

$ 

$ 

281 
4,647 
2,564 

325 
16 

7,833 
(5,442) 
2,391 

Total depreciation expense was $0.3 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

8. DEPOSITS 

Total 

$ 12,128 

6,994 
31,940 
17,393 

(2) * 
69,938 

3,069 

6,588 
2,089 
2,235 

83 
1,057 

53 
$ 153,565 

December 31, 2017 

$ 

$ 

281 
4,236 
2,485 

344 
249 

7,595 
(5,158) 
2,437 

Deposits are the Bank's primary source of funds for making loans and purchasing investments. The Bank offers a variety of deposit account 
products to commercial and consumer customers. The total deposits that were re-classified to loans due to overdrafts were $44 thousand and 
$27 thousand at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

The following shows the maturity schedule of all time deposits: 

(Dollars in thousands) 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
Total 

$ 

$ 

Amount 
85,753 

4,869 
2,037 

344 
138 

93,141 
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Principal maturities of time deposits of $250,000 or more as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

December 31, 2018 
(Dollars in thousands) Amount A, rage Rate 
Three months or less $ 1,240 0.4 1 % 
Over three months to six months 2,022 1.47 
Over six months to twelve months 1,309 0.68 
Over one year to five years 13,436 1.84 
Total $ 18,007 1.62 % 

December 31, 2017 
Amount Average Rate 
$ 770 0.55 % 

2,534 0.66 
14, 137 0.91 

1,283 0.38 
$ 18,724 0.83 % 

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Bank had $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, in interest expense for time deposits 
greater than $250,000. 

In the normal course of business, certain directors and executives of the Company and the Bank, including their immediate families and 
companies in which they have an interest, are deposit customers. These relationships had aggregate deposits of$1.0 million and $0.9 million as 
of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

The Bank had two deposit relationships for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 with balances in excess of five percent of total deposits 
totaling $35.0 million. 

9. LEASES 

The Bank leases premises and equipment under various lease agreements that provide for the payment of property taxes, insurance and 
maintenance costs. The following are future minimum capital lease payments as required under the agreements as of December 31, 2018: 

(Dollars in thousands) Amount 

2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
Thereafter 
Total $ 

The capital leases had an average interest rate of 1.96% and an interest expense of $3 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

The following are future minimum operating lease payments as required under the agreements: 

65 
41 
11 
2 

119 

(Dollars in thousands) A mount 

2019 $ 166 

2020 144 

2021 144 

2022 145 

2023 34 
Thereafter 729 

To tal $ 1,362 

The minimum lease payments do not include common area maintenance ("CAM") charges or real estate taxes, which are also required contractual 
obligations under our operating leases. CAM charges and real estate taxes are not fixed and are subject to fluctuation . Total CAM charges for the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $0.1 million and $3 thousand, respectively. Rent expense for all operating leases amounted to 
approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million during 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

The Bank leased out office space in some of its vacant office space in its headquarters and branches during 2017. Rental income for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 was $0.3 million. As of December 31, 2018, no vacant space was being leased at any branch. During December 2017, the 
Bank sold its headquarters along with related leases. 

IO. SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACTION: 

On December 14, 2017, the Bank sold its headquarters located in Durham, NC for a total purchase price of$3.4 million and recognized a gain of $0.1 
million. The buyer was not an affiliate of the Company or the Bank. After selling expenses of$0.2 million, the net proceeds on the transaction were 
$3.2 million. The sales price for the property was based on an outside appraisal obtained by the Bank. The Bank provided $2.9 million of financing 
to the buyer for this transaction for a term of five years. 
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In connection with the sale of the property, the Bank on December 14, 2017 entered into a commercial lease agreement with the buyer for 13,532 
square feet of corporate office space, which will allow the Bank to continue to provide operational support to customers. The lease, which commenced 
on December IS, 2017, provides the Bank with use of the property for an initial term of five years. Base rent payments for the first year are 
approximately $0.1 million. The base rent payments will increase by 2.50% for years two through five. The Bank has the option to renew the lease 
two times and each renewal would be for a term of five years. The base rent for the renewals would be negotiated at the time the renewal option is 
exercised by the Bank. While the cash lease payments are currently $0.1 million during year one, the Bank is required to straight-line expense over 
the initial term of five years. As a result, the annual lease expense will also be approximately $0.1 million. 

11. BORROWINGS 

Borrowings as of December 31, 2018 consisted of a FIILB borrowing of $0.6 million with a fixed interest rate of0.50% that matures in 2020 and 
capital leases of$0.l million with a weighted average interest rate of 1.96%. See Note 9 for details on leases. Interest expense on advances from 
FHLB for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $3 thousand and $9 thousand, respectively. The maximum FIILB advances 
outstanding at any month end during the year ended December 31, 2018 were $0.6 million. As of December 31, 2018, the Bank had the borrowing 
availability of an additional $35.S million from the FIILB. Pursuant to collateral agreements with the FHLB, advances are secured by FHLB 
stock, and qualifying loans totaling $36.0 million and $37.4 million as ofDecember 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

The Company has federal funds lines of credit with three correspondent banks totaling $10.0 million. No borrowings were outstanding on these 
lines of credit at December 31, 2018 or 2017. The Company periodically tests its federal funds lines of credit with its correspondent banks. These 
lines were tested quarterly during the year ended December 31, 2018. 

The following is the outstanding principal maturities and interest rate of the Company's FHLB advances as of December 31, 2018: 

Maturity Date 

(Dollars in thousands) 

2019 

2020 

Total 

12. mcOME TAXES 

December 31, 2018 

$ 

$ 

Amount 

27 

532 

559 

Rate 

0.50% 

0.50% 

0.50% 

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "2017 Tax Act"). The 2017 Tax Act 
includes a number of changes to existing US. Tax laws that impact the Company, most notable a reduction of the U.S. corporate income tax rate 
from 34% to 21 % for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. 

The Company recognized the income effects of the 2017 Tax Act in its 2017 consolidated financial statements in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 
118, which provides guidance for the application of ASC Topic 740,"Income Taxes," in the reporting period in which the 2017 Tax Act was signed 
into law. As such the Company's consolidated financial results reflect the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act for which the accounting under 
ASC Topic 740 is complete and provision amounts for those specific income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act for which the accounting under ASC 
Topic 740 is incomplete but a reasonable estimate could be determined. The Company did not identify items for which the income tax effects of 
the 2017 Tax Act have not been completed and a reasonable estimate could not be determined as of December 31, 2017. 

The components of the income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows : 

(Dollars in thousands) 2018 

Income tax expense 
Current $ 17 $ 
Deferred 92 

Total $ 109 $ 
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A reconciliation of reported income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 to the amount of tax expense computed by 
multiplying income before income taxes by the statutory federal income tax rate follows: 

(Dollars in thousands) 2018 2017 

Statutory federal income tax rate 21% 34% 

Tax provision at statutory rate $ 121 $ (330) 
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from: 

State income taxes net of federal benefit 4 35 
Change in deferred tax valuation allowance 7 (34) 
Cash surrender value of life insurance (53) (86) 
Revaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities due to Tax Cuts and Jobs Act 2,088 

Other 30 (52) 
Total $ 109 $ 1,621 

The tax effect of the cumulative temporary differences and carry forwards that gave rise to the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 
31, 2018 and 2017 within the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows: 

(Dollars in thousands) December 31 , 
2018 2017 

Deferred tax assets : 
Adjustments, defined benefit p !ans $ 485 $ 417 

Excess book over tax provision for loan loss expense 483 444 

Federal net operating loss carry forward 2,162 2,294 

State net economic loss carryforward 326 332 

Impairment on investments 3 

OREO write-downs 23 

Deferred gµin on other real estate owned 2 

Deferred gµin on sale leaseback 12 15 

Premises and equipment 152 144 

Alternative minimum tax 562 

Unrealized losses on securities available for sale, net 470 312 

Other, net 104 58 

Total deferred tax assets 4, 197 4,603 

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (1L8) (111) 

Net of valuation allowance deferred tax asset 4,079 4,492 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Accrued pension (126) (93) 
Deferred loan fees (75) (73) 
Other (52) (7 J) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (253) (237) 
N et deferred tax assets 3,826 4,25-

Tax receivable, net 909 620 
Deferred tax assets and taxes receivable, net 4,735 4,875 

The Company measures deferred income tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates that will apply in the years in which the temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or paid. Although the Company' s deferred tax assets and liabilities were remeasured to reflect the 
reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 34% to 21%, the resulting $2.1 million increase in income tax expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2017 and a corresponding $2.1 million decrease in net deferred tax assets as of December 31 , 2017 . 

1n February 2018, the FASB Issued (2018-02), "Income Statement (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income," which requires Companies to reclassify the stranded effects in other comprehensive income to retained earnings as a result 
of the change in the tax rates under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. The Company opted to early adopt this pronouncement by retrospective application to 
each period (or periods) in which the effect of the change in the tax rate under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act is recognized. The impact of the reclassification 
from other comprehensive income to retained earnings was $0.4 million. 

The Company has federal net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $10.3 million at December 31, 2018, which can be used to offset 
future taxable income, subject to certain Section 382 limitations. Management assessed the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if 
sufficient future taxable income will be generated to use the existing deferred tax assets. A significant objective piece of negative evidence is that the 
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Company is failing the 3-year cumulative income test, because oflosses in 2017 and 2016. Positive evidence includes projected future net income and 
the federal loss carry-forwards do not start to expire until 2027. Management has evaluated all positive and negative evidence regarding the 
deferred tax assets and determined that it was more likely than not they will realize the deferred tax assets. A valuation allowance is not 
needed as of December 31, 2018, except for amounts pertaining to the Company's state net operating losses. Accordingly, a valuation 
allowance has been established for these state loss carry-forward amounts. 

The last tax year audited by the Internal Revenue Service was 2006; tax years 2015 - 2017 are open for audit under the statute of limitations. The 
Company has analyzed the tax position taken or expected to be taken in its tax returns and has concluded it has no uncertain tax positions. 

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

The Bank sponsors a noncontributory defined benefit cash balance pension plan (the "Cash Balance Plan"), covering all employees who 
qualify under length of service and other requirements. Under the Cash Balance Plan, retirement benefits are based on years of service 
and average earnings. The Bank's funding policy is to contribute amounts to the Cash Balance Plan sufficient to meet the minimum funding 
requirements set forth in the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERlSA"), plus such additional amounts as the 
Bank may determine to be appropriate. The contributions to the Cash Balance Plan paid during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 
2017 totaled none and $0.6 million, respectively. The Cash Balance Plan was fully funded as of December 31, 2018. The measurement date for the 
Cash Balance Plan is December 31 and prior service costs and benefits are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period 
of active participants. 

It is expected that the Bank will not contribute to the Cash Balance Plan during 2019. 

The following table shows the type of assets held in the Cash Balance Plan: 

Asset Category 

Equity securities 
Debt securities 
Real estate 
All other assets 
Total 

As ofDecember31, 
2018 2017 

52.0% 67.8% 
45.0% 29.7% 

0.0% 0.0% 
3.0% 2.5% 

100.0% 100.0% 

The Bank sponsors a nonqualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP"). The SERP, which is unfunded, provides certain 
individuals with pension benefits, outside the Bank's noncontributory defined-benefit Cash Balance Plan, based on average earnings, years of 
service and age at retirement. Participation in the SERP is at the discretion of the Bank's Board of Directors. The Company and Bank 
purchased bank owned life insurance ("BOLi") in 2002 in the aggregate amount of approximately $12.9 million face value covering all the 
participants in the SERP. Increases in the cash surrender value of BOLi policies totaled $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
The cash surrender value of the BOLi owned by the Bank was $9.0 million and $8.7 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The 
Bank has the ability and the intent to keep this life insurance in force indefinitely. The insurance proceeds may be used, at the sole discretion of the 
Bank, to fund the benefits payable under the SERP. 

Since there are no assets in the plan, contributions are equal to the benefits paid. It is expected that $0.2 million will be paid in benefits during 2019. 

The SERP and the Cash Balance Plan service cost components of the net periodic benefit cost reflected in salaries and employee benefits expense and 
the remaining net periodic benefit cost components reflected in other expenses for the years ended December 3 I, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were: 

Cash Balance Plan SERP Total 
(Dollars in thousands) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Service cost $ 111 $ 146 $ $ $ 111 $ 146 
Interest cost 180 203 63 73 243 276 
Expected return on Plan assets (444) (381) (444) (381) 
Amortization of prior service cost and 
recognized net actuarial gain 73 120 28 25 101 145 
Net periodic pension cost $ (80) $ 88 $ 91 $ 98 $ 11 $ 186 
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The following table shows the change in the projected benefit obligations and plan assets for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

Cash Balance Plan SERP Total 
(Dollars in thousands) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Change in projected benefit obligations: 
Benefit oblig;ition at beginning of year $ 5,866 $ 5,663 $ 2,006 $ 2,034 $ 7,872 $ 7,697 
Service cost 111 146 111 146 
Interest cost 181 202 63 73 244 275 
Actuarial (g;iin) loss (256) 130 (96) 53 (352) 183 
Benefits and expenses paid (275) (275) (154) (154) (429) (429) 
Benefit obligation at end of year 5,627 5,866 1,819 2,006 7,446 7,872 

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginningofyear 6,599 5,534 6,599 5,534 
Actual return on plan assets (302) 790 (302) 790 
Employer contributions 550 154 154 154 704 
Benefits and expenses paid (275) (275) (154) (154) (429) (429) 
Fair value of plan assets at year end 6,022 6,599 6,022 6,599 

Funded status $ 395 $ 733 $ (1,819) $ (2,006) $ (1,424) $ (1,273) 

The Bank had a prepaid asset for the Cash Balance Plan of $0.4 million and $0. 7 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The prepaid 
asset is carried in Other Assets within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The accrued liability and accumulated benefits obligations for the SERP was 
$1.8 million and $2.0 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The balance is included in Other Liabilities within the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. 

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss that have not been recognized as components of net periodic pension cost were: 

Cash Balance Plan SERP 
(Dollars in thousands) 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Unrecognized net actuarial loss $ 1,667 $ 1,249 $ 447 $ 571 
Unrecognized prior service cost 
Total amount included in accumulated other comprehensive loss $ 1,667 $ 1,249 $ 447 $ 571 

Weighted average assumptions as of December 31: 

Discount rate 4.00% 3.25% 4.00% 3.25% 
Expected return on p Ian assets 7.00% 7.00% n/a n/a 
Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss expected to be recognized in net periodic costs in 2019: 

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss expected to be 
recognized in net periodic pension cost in 2019: 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Net actuarial loss 
Prior service cost 
Total expected to be recognized 

Assets expected to be returned to the Company in 2019 

Cash Balance Plan SERP 

$ 134 $ 22 

$ 134 $ 22 

$ $ 

Total 
2018 

$ 2,114 $ 

$ 2,114 $ 

Total 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2017 

1,820 

1,820 

156 

156 
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The estimated expected benefits payments for the Cash Balance Plan and SERP are: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

For the Years Ending December 31: 

2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024-2028 
Total 

Cash Balance Plan 

$ 

$ 

75 1 
531 
487 
419 
353 

1,822 
4,363 

SERP TOTAL 

$ 154 $ 905 
151 682 
149 636 
146 565 
142 495 
657 2,479 

$ 1,399 $ 5,762 

Retirement Plan Assets- In general, the Cash Balance Plan's investment management organizations make reasonable efforts to control 
market fluctuations through appropriate techniques including, but not limited to, adequate diversification. The specific investment strategy 
adopted by the plan referred to as the Long Term Growth of Capital Strategy, attempts to achieve long-term growth of capital with 
little concern for current income. Typical investors in this portfolio have a relatively aggressive investment philosophy, seeking long-term 
growth, and are not looking for current dividend income. 

Prohibited investments include commodities and futures contracts, private placements, options, transactions which would result in 
unrelated business taxable income, and other investments prohibited by ERISA. 

The target range of allocation percentages for each major category of plan assets was: 

Asset Category Target Weight Minimum Weight Maximum Weight 

Cash 
Equities: 

us 
Non-US 

Fixed Income 

2% 0% 15% 

49% 
6% 

43% 

35% 
0% 

31% 

63% 
12% 
59% 

Equity investments must be listed on the New York, American, NASDAQ, or other similar stock exchanges traded in the over-the-counter 
market with the requirement that such stocks have adequate liquidity relative to the size of the investment. 

Fixed income investments must have a credit rating of B or better from Standard and Poor's or Moody's. The fixed income portfolio should 
be constructed so as to have an average maturity not exceeding 10 years. No more than 5% of the fixed income portfolio should be invested in 
any one issuer. U.S. Treasury and Agency securities are exempt from this restriction. 

Cash and equivalent instruments that are acceptable are repurchase agreements, bankers' acceptances, U.S. treasury bills, money market funds, 
and certificates of deposit. 

The portfolio shall be structured to meet financial objectives over a period of 11 or more years. Over that time horizon, the total rate of return 
should equal at least l 03% of the applicable blended benchmark returns and place in the top half of group performance. Benchmarks which may 
be used for portfolio performance comparison are as follows: 

U.S. Large Cap Equities: S&P 500, Russell 1000, Russell 1000 Value, Russell 1000 Growth, S&P 500/Citi Value, and S&P 500/Citi 
Growth 
U.S. Mid Cap Equities: S&P 400 Mid Cap, Russell Mid Cap Value, Russell Mid Cap Growth, S&P MidCap 400 Value, and S&P 
MidCap 400 Growth 
U.S. Small Cap Equities: Russell 2000, Russell 2000 Value, Russell 2000 Growth, S&P SmallCap 600, S&P SmallCap 600 Value, and S&P 
SmallCap 600 Growth 
Non-U.S. Equities: MSCI EAFE, and MSCI EM 
Fixed Income: Barclays Capital Intermediate Govt/Corp, Barclays Capital U.S. Aggregate Bond, Barclays Capital U.S. Govt. 
Intermediate, BarCap U.S. Corporate High Yield and ML Global Govt. 
Real Estate: FTSE NAREIT All REIT 
Cash: U.S. 3-Month Treasury Bill 

The Company groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded 
and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. These levels were: 
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December 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
(Dollars in thousands) Quoted Prices in Si gnificant other Significant 

Active Markets for Observable Unobservable 
As set Category Identical Assets Inpu ts Inputs 

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 
Cash $ 144 $ 

Money market fund 31 
Equity Security : 

Large-Cap 1,635 
Mid-Cap 700 
Small-Cap 472 
Global and International 332 

Fixed Income-Bonds 1,388 
Other 1,320 
Total $ 4,603 $ 1,419 

December 31, 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
(Dollars in thousands) Quoted Prices in Significant other Significant 

Active Markets for Observable Unobservable 
Asset Category Identical Assets Inputs Inputs 

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 
Cash $ 133 $ $ 

Money market fund 33 
Equity Security: 

Large-Cap 1,984 
Mid-Cap 1,119 
Small-Cap 765 
Global and International 605 

Fixed Income-Bonds 1,293 
Other 614 53 
Total $ 5,220 $ 1,379 

401(k) Plan -The Bank sponsors a 401(k) plan. Participation in the 40!(k) plan is voluntary. Employees become eligible after completing 90 
days service and attaining age 21. Employees may elect to contribute up to 12% of their compensation to the 40l(k) plan. The Bank matches 
100% of each employee's contribution, up to a maximum of 6% of compensation. The Bank's contribution to the 401(k) plan was $0.2 million 
in each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Post-retirement Benefits -The Bank provides certain post-retirement benefits to select former executive officers. As of December 31, 2018 
and 2017, the amount of the liability for these benefits was approximately $0.1 million. 

Split Dollar Benefits -In 2002, upon investing in BOU policies, the Company granted certain executives a split dollar life benefit by which 
the beneficiaries of the executive would receive a portion of the non-cash surrender value death benefit of the BOU upon the executive's demise. 
Thereafter, amounts are accrued by a charge to employee benefits. As of December 31 , 2018 and 2017, $0.2 million was recorded in other 
liabilities for the split dollar benefit. 

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

In the ordinary course of business, certain of the Company's and Bank's directors and executive officers, including immediate family members 
and companies in which they have an interest, are loan customers. Those transactions do not invo Ive more than the normal risk of collection nor 
do they present any unfavorable features. Total loans to such groups totaled $1.3 million and $1.2 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. Unused lines available to be drawn were $50 thousand and $2.3 million as of December 31 , 2018 and 2017, respectively . 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Beginning Balance 

Draws/Advances 

Repayments 

Removal ofloan due to director retirement 

Ending Balance 

December 31, 2018 

$ 1,199 

1,085 

(1,006) 

$ 1,278 

December 31, 2017 

$ 2,070 

5,995 

(6,780) 

(86) 

$ 1,199 
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During 2017, the Bank leased certain real estate from an entity associated with a shareholder, who owned 5% or more of the Company's 
stock. The arm's length transaction consists of a lease with nine years remaining on its term, with three five-year renewal options, and calls 
for an annual 2% increase in rents. The lease does not present any unfavorable features. During 2018, shares of the stock were split among 
the heirs of the shareholder, none of whom own 5% or more of the Company's stock as of December 31, 2018. 

15. REGULATORY MATTERS AND RESTRICTIONS 

On August 7, 2015, the Bank entered into a memorandum of understanding with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") and the 
Office of the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks ("NCCOB"). The informal agreement required the Bank take certain actions to enhance 
its management of adversely classified assets, remain well-capitalized and improve earnings. It also restricted that dividends could not be paid 
to the holding company without prior approval and required reporting of progress of implementing additional management improvement plans. 
On August 19, 2010, the Company entered into a memorandum of understanding with the FRB. The informal agreement required the Company 
to receive prior approval for payment of any dividends, to repurchase stock, or to receive any dividends from the Bank. On October 24, 2017, 
the FRB terminated its memorandum of understanding with the Company, and subsequently on November 6, 2017, the FDIC and NCCOB 
terminated their memorandum of understanding with the Bank. 

The Company and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet 
minimum capital requirements may initiate certain mandatory and the possibility of additional discretionary, actions by regulators that, if 
undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company and the Bank's financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and 
the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve 
quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The 
capital amounts and classification are subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors. 
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth 
in the table below) of total, Tier 1 and common equity Tier 1 capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), and Tier 
1 capital (as defined) to average assets (as defined). Management believes, as of December 31 , 2018 and 2017, that the Company and the 
Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject. To be categorized as well capitalized, the Bank must maintain minimum 
common equity Tier 1, total risk-based, Tier I risk-based and Tier 1 leveraged ratios as set forth in the table below. 

December 31 , 2018 

For Capital 
Adequacy To Be Well 

(Dollars in thousands) Actu al Purposes Capitalized 
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio -Total capital (to risk wei ghte d assets) 

Comp any $ 23, 175 12.27 % $ 15,114 8.00 % n/a n/a 
Bank 22,787 12.07 15,097 8.00 $ 18,872 10.00 % 
Tier 1 (to ri sk weighted assets) 
Company $ 2 1,075 11.15 % $ 11,336 6.00 % n/a n/a 
Bank 20,687 10.96 11,323 6.00 $ 15,097 8.00 % 
Common Equi ty Tier 1 
Company $ 21 ,075 11.15 % $ 8,502 4.50 % n/a n/a 
Bank 20,687 10.96 8,492 4.50 $ 12,267 6.50 % 
Tier 1 (to average total ass ets) 
Company $ 21,075 8.05 % $ 10,475 4.00 % n/a n/a 
Bank 20,687 7.91 10,466 4.00 $ 13,082 5.00 % 
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December 31, 2017 

For Capital 
Adequacy To Be Well 

(Dollars in thousands) Actual Purposes Capitalized 
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio 

Total capital (to risk weighted assets) 
Company $ 21,880 12.38 % $ 14,144 8.00 % n/a n/a 
Bank 21,360 12.10 14,120 8.00 $ 17,650 10.00 
Tier 1 (to risk weighted assets) 
Company $ 19,947 11.28 % $ 10,608 6.00 % n/a n/a 
Bank 19,427 11.01 10,590 6.00 $ 14,120 8.00 
Common F.quity Tier 1 
Company $ 19,947 11.28 % $ 7,956 4.50 % n/a n/a 
Bank 19,427 11.01 7,942 4.50 $ 11,472 6.50 
Tier 1 (to average total assets) 
Company $ 19,947 7.85 % $ 10,160 4.00 % n/a n/a 
Bank 19,427 7.66 10,145 4.00 $ 12,681 5.00 

In July 2013, the Federal Reserve, the FDIC, and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency each approved final rules to implement the Basel III 
regulatory capital reforms, among other changes required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The rules apply to all 
national and state banks, such as the Bank, and savings associations and most bank holding companies and savings and loan holding companies, which 
we collectively refer to herein as "covered banking organizations." Bank holding companies with less than $500 million in total consolidated assets, 
such as the Company, are not subject to the final rules, nor are savings and loan holding companies substantially engaged in commercial activities or 
insurance underwriting. The framework requires covered banking organizations to hold more and higher quality capital, which acts as a financial 
cushion to absorb losses, taking into account the impact of risk. The approved rules include a new minimum ratio of common equity Tier l capital to 
risk-weighted assets of 4.5% as well as a common equity Tier l capital conservation buffer of 2.5% of risk-weighted assets. As ofJanuary 1, 2017, 
the buffer was 1.25%. The rules raised the minimum ratio of Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets from 4% to 6% and include a minimum leverage 
ratio of 4% for all banking institutions. In terms of quality of capital, the final rules emphasize common equity Tier l capital and implement strict 
eligibility criteria for regulatory capital instruments. The final rules also changed the methodology for calculating risk-weighted assets to enhance risk 
sensitivity. The requirements in the rules began to phase in on January 1, 2015 for "standardized approach" banking organizations such as the Bank. 
The requirements in the rules will be fully phased in by January 1, 2019. 

16. HOLDING COMPANY CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFOR.J.'1.ATION 

The condensed financial data for the Company (holding company only) was: 

Condensed Balance Sheets: 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Assets: 
Cash and cash equivelents 
Investment in subsidiary bank 
Other assets 
Total Assets 

liabilities and Stockholders' F.quity: 
Total liabilities 
Stockholders' equity 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 

Condensed Statements of Operations: 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Undistributed net income (loss) of subsidiary bank 
Expenses, net 
Net income (loss) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 
2018 2017 

141 $ 240 
19,501 19,661 

262 489 
19,904 $ 20,390 

15 $ 209 
19,889 20,181 
19,904 $ 20,390 

For the Years Ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

598 
(132) 
466 

$ 

$ 

(2,469) 
(122) 

(2,591) 

39 

% 

% 

% 

% 



Condensed Cash Flol\'S : 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Cash Flows from operating activities: 
Net income (loss) 
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Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities : 
Undistributed net (income) loss of subsidiary 

(Increase) decrease in other assets 
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

17. COM.i'1ITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

$ 

$ 

For the Years Ended December 31 , 
2018 2017 

466 

(598) 
227 

(1 94) 
(99) 
(99) 
240 

141 

$ 

$ 

(2,591) 

2,469 

(64) 
197 

11 
11 

229 
240 

The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its 
customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, and standby letters of credit. These instruments involve, to 
varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk beyond the amount recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The contractual 
amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Bank has in particular classes of financial instruments. 

The Bank's exposure to credit losses in the event of non-performance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend 
credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Bank utilizes the same credit policies 
in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for balance sheet instruments. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is not a violation of any condition established in the 
contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many of 
the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash 
requirements. The Bank evaluates each customer's credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed 
necessary by the Bank, upon extension of credit is based on management's credit evaluation of the counter parties. Collateral varies and 
may include real estate, accounts receivable, inventory, property, plant and equipment, and income-producing commercial properties. 

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. The credit 
risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. To the extent 
deemed necessary, collateral of varying types and amounts is held to secure customer performance under certain of those letters of credit 
outstanding. 

Financial instruments whose contract amounts represent credit risk as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are commitments to extend 
credit (including availability of lines of credit), and standby letters of credit. Loan commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other 
termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. The Bank evaluates each customer's credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis . The 
amount of collateral deemed necessary by the Bank is based on management's credit evaluation and underwriting guidelines for the particular 
loan. 

The Bank records a reserve for credit commitments that is adjusted through Other liabilities and Other expense in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Operations, respectively based on (i) the expected probability of funding and (ii) the loss history by loan 
type as determined in calculating the ALLL. The reserves included in Other liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $21 thousand 
and $48 thousand, respectively. 

Commitments outstanding at December 31, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Less than one year 
One to three years 
Three to five years 
More than five years 

Total 

18. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

Commercial 
letters of credit 

$ 

$ 

141 
22 
93 

256 

Other loan 
commitments 

$ 

$ 

11,102 
101 
87 

932 
12,222 

Total 
commitments 

$ 

$ 

11,243 
123 
180 
932 

12,478 

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous 
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market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Fair value should be based 
on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the 
information used to develop those assumptions. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the 
lowest priority to unobservable data. Fair value measurements are required to be separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. 
The Company bases fair values on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 

For assets and liabilities recorded at fair value, the Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable 
inputs when developing fair value measurements, in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. 

Fair value measurements for assets and liabilities where there exists limited or no observable market data and, therefore, are based primarily 
upon estimates, are often calculated based on the economic and competitive environment, the characteristics of the asset or liability and 
other factors . 

Therefore, the results cannot be determined with precision and may not be realized in an actual sale or immediate settlement of the asset or liability. 
Additionally, there may be inherent weaknesses in any calculation technique, and changes in the underlying assumptions used, including 
discount rates and estimates of future cash flows, could significantly affect the results of current or future values. 

The Company utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and to determine fair 
value disclosures. Securities available-for-sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Additionally, from time to time, the Company may 
be required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as loans held for sale, loans held for investment, OREO, and certain 
other assets. These nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically involve application of lower of cost or market accounting or write-downs of 
individual assets. 

The Company groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and 
the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. These levels are: 

Level 1-Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the New York Stock Exchange. 

Level 2 - Valuations are obtained from readily available pricing sources via independent providers for market transactions involving similar 
assets or liabilities. The Company's principal market for these securities is the secondary institutional markets and valuations are based on 
observable market data in those markets. Level 2 securities include U. S. Agencies, state and municipal bonds and MBS. 

Level 3 - Valuations for assets and liabilities that are derived from other valuation methodologies, including option pricing models, 
discounted cash flow models and similar techniques, and not based on market exchange, dealer, or broker traded transactions. Level 3 
valuations incorporate certain assumptions and projections in determining the fair value assigned to such assets. 

Assets and Liabilities Measured on a Recurring Basis: 

Available-for-sale ("AFS") Investment Securities: Investment securities are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value measurement 
is based upon quoted prices, if available. If quoted prices are not available, fair values are measured using matrix pricing, which is a 
mathematical technique used widely in the industry to value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific 
securities but rather by relying on the securities' relationship to other benchmark quoted securities. Level 1 securities include those traded 
on nationally recognized securities exchanges, U.S. Treasury securities, and money market fund s. Level 2 securities include U.S. Agencies, 
MBS issued by government sponsored entities, state and municipal bonds and corporate debt securities. Securities classified as Level 3 
include asset-backed securities in less liquid markets. The Company did not hold any Level I or Level 3 AFS Investment Securities as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2018 were as follows: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Description 

Recurring: 

U.S. Agencies 
MBS 

Residential 
Municipals 

Total 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 2018 

17,673 

31,343 
1,737 

50,753 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1) 

$ 

$ 

Significant Other 

$ 

$ 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2) 

17,673 

31 ,343 
1,737 

50,753 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

$ 

$ 
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Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2017 were as follows: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Description 
Recurring: 

U.S. Agencies 
MBS 

Residential 
Municipals 

Total 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 2017 

17,833 

37,878 
1,777 

57,488 

Assets and Liabilities Measured on a Nonrecurring Basis: 

$ 

$ 

Quoted Prices in 

Active Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1) 

Significant Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2) 

$ 

$ 

17,833 

37,878 
1,777 

57,488 

$ 

$ 

Significant 
Unobserva hie 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

Impaired loans: Impaired loans are evaluated and valued at the time the loan is identified as impaired, and are carried at the lower of cost or 
market value . Market value is measured based on the value of the collateral securing these loans or net present value of expected future 
cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate. Collateral may be real estate and/or business assets including equipment, inventory, 
and/or accounts receivable. The value of business equipment, inventory, and accounts receivable collateral is based on net book value on 
the business' financial statements and, if necessary, discounted based on management's review and analysis. Appraised and reported values 
may be discounted based on management' s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of valuation, and/or management's 
expertise and knowledge of the client and the client' s selling costs and other expenses. Impaired loans are reviewed and evaluated on at 
least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly, based on the same factors identified above. The Company records 
impaired loans as nonrecurring Level 3, because Management believes the underlying collateral is less than the appraised value. 

OREO: Foreclosed assets are adjusted to fair value, less estimated carrying costs and costs to sell, upon transfer of the loans to foreclosed 
assets. Subsequently, foreclosed assets are carried at the lower of the carrying value or the fair value, less estimated carry costs and costs 
to sell. Fair value is based upon independent market prices, appraised values of the collateral, or management's estimation of the value of 
the collateral. The Company records foreclosed assets as nonrecurring Level 3. 

Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Description 

Nonrecurring: 

Impaired loans: 
Faith-based non-profit 
Residential real estate 
Total 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Description 
Nonrecurring: 

OREO 

Imp aired loans : 
Commercial 
Commercial real estate 
Faith-based non-profit 
Residential real estate 
Total 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 2018 

9,826 
8 

9,834 

December 31, 2017 

104 

1,024 
4,436 
8,645 

474 
14,683 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1) 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1) 

Significant Other 
Observable 

Inputs 
(Level 2) 

$ 

$ 

Significant Other 
Observable 

Inputs 
(Level 2) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

9,826 
8 

9,834 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

104 

1,024 
4,436 
8,645 

474 
14,683 
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Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Valuation 

Description December 31, 2018 Technique 
Nonrecurring: 

Imp aired loans $ 9,834 discounted appraisals 
Total $ !),834 

(Do//ars in thousands) 
Valuati on 

Description DecemberJ l, 2017 Technique 
Nonrecurring 

OREO $ 104 discounted appraisals 
Imp aired loans 14,579 discounted appraisals 

Total $ 14,683 

Significant Significant 
Unobservable Unobservable 

Inputs Input Value 

collateral discounts 6-20% 

Significant Significant 
Unobservable Unobservable 

Inputs Input Value 

collateral discounts 6-20% 
collateral discounts 6-20% 

The Company discloses estimated fair values for its significant financial instruments. The methodologies for estimating the fair value of 
financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis are discussed above. The methodologies for 
other financial assets and liabilities are discussed below. 

The Company had no transfers between any of the three levels in 2018 or 2017. 

Cash and ash Equiva lents: The carrying amount of cash, due from bank, and federal funds sold approximates fair value, and is therefore considered 
Level l input. 

Loans <other than impa ired). net of allow1rnces for loan losses: Fair values are estimated for portfolios of loans with similar financial 
characteristics. The majority of the Company's loans and lending-related commitments are not carried at fair value on a recurring basis on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, nor are they actively traded. 

The fair value of performing loans is calculated by discounting scheduled cash flows through their individual contractual maturity, using 
discount rates that reflect the credit risk, overhead expenses, interest rate earned and again, contractual maturity of each loan less credit 
component. The maturity is based on contractual maturities for each loan, modified as required by an estimate of the effect of historical 
prepayments and current economic conditions. 

For all loans, assumptions regarding the characteristics and segregation of loans, maturities, credit risk, cash flows, and discount rates 
are judgmentally determined using specific borrower and other available information, and are therefore considered a Level 3 input. 

Accrued Interest Receivable and Pavable: The fair value of interest receivable and payable is estimated to approximate the carrying amounts and 
are therefore considered Level l input. 

Deposits: The fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, such as demand deposits, checking accounts, savings and money market accounts, 
is equal to the carrying amount. The fair value of certificates of deposit is based on the discounted value of contractual cash flows, where the 
discount rate is estimated using the market rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities and are therefore considered Level 
2 input. 

Borrowings: The fair value of borrowings is based on the discounted value of estimated cash flows. The discounted rate is estimated using 
market rates currently offered for similar advances or borrowings and are therefore considered Level 3 input. 

Off-Ba lance , heel Instruments: Since the majority of the Company's off-balance sheet instruments consist of non- fee producing variable 
rate commitments, the Company has determined they do not have a distinguishable fair value. 
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As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the carrying amounts and associated estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities of the 
company are as follows: 

December 31, 2018 
(Dollars in thousands) Carrying Estimated 

Amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Assets: 
Cash, cash equivalents and interest-bearing time deposits $ 15,391 $ 15,391 $ 15,391 $ $ 
Investment securities available for sale 50,753 50,753 50,753 
Loans, net of allowances for loan losses 172,370 169,469 169,469 
Accrued interest receivable 699 699 699 

Liabilities: 
Non-maturity deposits $ 139,879 $ 139,879 $ 139,879 $ $ 
Maturity deposits 93,141 92,695 92,695 
Other borrowings 678 662 662 
Accrued interest pay able 161 161 161 

December 31, 2017 
(Dollars in thousands) Carrying Estimated 

Amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Assets: 
Cash, cash equivalents and interest-bearing time deposits $ 27,227 $ 27,227 $ 27,227 $ $ 
Investment securities available for sale 57,488 57,488 57,488 
Loans, net of allowances for loan losses 151,680 150,155 150,155 
Accrued interest receivable 651 651 651 

Liabilities: 
Non-maturity deposits $ 134,630 $ 134,630 $ 134,630 $ $ 
Maturity deposits 95,813 95,529 95,529 
Other borrowings 769 728 728 
Accrued interest payable 119 119 119 

19. PREFERRED STOCK 

SERIES C JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK 

On September 23, 2014, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right for each outstanding share of the Company's 
common stock, to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, 
of the Company at a price of $10.00 per one one-hundredth of a share of preferred stock, subject to adjustment as provided in the associated rights 
agreement. 

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date, but before financial statements are issued. Recognized subsequent 
events are events or transactions that provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet. Nonrecognized 
subsequent events are events that provide evidence about conditions that did not exist at the date of the balance sheet but arose after that date. 
Management has reviewed events occurring through March 15, 2019, the date the financial statements were available to be issued, and noted, no 
subsequent events requiring accrual or disclosure. 

44 

,. 



• I 

BOARDS OF DIRECTORS & 
OFFICERS 

M&F Bancorp, Inc. 
Board of Directors 

James A. Stewart 
Chair 
Broker/Consultant 
Stewart Investment 
Properties Inc. 
Durham,NC 

Connie J. White 
Vice Chair 
Retired Management Consultant 
Durham, NC 

Willie T. Closs Jr., CPA 
Financial Consultant 
Durham, NC 

Michael L. Lawrence, CPA 
Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer 
Alamance Farmers' Mutual 
Insurance Company 
Graham, NC 

Raymond C. Pierce, Esq. 
President/CEO 
Southern Education Foundation 
Atlanta, GA 

James H. Sills, III 
President/CEO 
M&F Bancorp, Inc. and 
Mechanics and Farmers Bank 
Durham,NC 

James H. Speed Jr., CPA 
Retired President/CEO 
NC Mutual Life Insurance 
Company 
Durham, NC 

M&F Bank 
Board of Directors 

James A. Stewart* 
Chair 
Broker/Consultant 
Stewart Investment 
Properties Inc. 
Durham, NC 

Connie J. White* 
Vice Chair 
Retired Management Consultant 
Durham, NC 

Willie T. Closs Jr.*, CPA 
Financial Consultant 
Durham, NC 

Michael L. Lawrence*, CPA 
Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer 
Alamance Farmers' Mutual 
Insurance Company 
Graham, NC 

Dexter V. Perry, CFP 
Managing Principal 
The Providence Group of North 
Carolina 
Cary, NC 

Raymond C. Pierce, Esq. 
President/CEO 
Southern Education Foundation 
Atlanta, GA 

Cedric L. Russell 
Funeral Director and General 
Manager 
Russell Funeral Home 
Winston-Salem, NC 

James H. Sills, 111* 
President/CEO 
M&F Bancorp, Inc. and 
Mechanics and Farmers Bank 
Durham, NC 

Christopher G. Smith, Esq. 
Partner 
Smith Anderson 
Raleigh, NC 

James H. Speed Jr., CPA 
Retired President/CEO 
NC Mutual Life Insurance 
Company 
Durham, NC 

*Executive Committee Member 

45 



Corporate Officers 

James H. Sills, III 
President and CEO 

Randall C. Hall, CPA, CRP, CGMA 
Senior Vice President/Chief Financial 
Officer & Chief Operations Officer 

Valerie M. Quiett, Esq. 
Senior Vice President/Chief Legal 
Officer/Corporate Secretary 

Bank Officers 

James H. Sills, III 
President and CEO 

Randall C. Hall, CPA, CRP, CGMA 
Senior Vice President/Chief Financial 
Officer & Chief Operations Officer 

Percy W. "Pete" Williams 
Senior Vice President/Chief Credit 
Officer 

Travis C. Rouse 
Senior Vice President/Chief Sales 
Officer 

Valerie M. Quiett, Esq. 
Senior Vice President/Chief Legal 
Officer/Corporate Secretary 

Evelyn P. Acree 
Senior Vice President/Business 
Banker 
Winston-Salem, NC 

Nighat Arif 
Senior Vice President/Senior 
Commercial Lender 
Charlotte, NC 

Tanya Dial-Bethune 
Senior Vice President/Senior 
Commercial Lender 
Charlotte, NC 

Soberina F. Traywick 
Senior Vice President/Senior 
Commercial Lender 
Raleigh, NC 

Daniel L. Bellamy 
Vice President/Business Banker 
Durham, NC 

Kathy E. Fox, CPA, CRP, CGMA 
Vice President/Controller 
Durham, NC 

Damien Gorham 
Vice President/Senior Commercial 
Lender 
Greensboro, NC 

Richard N. "Skipper" Hines, III 
Vice President/Credit Underwriter 
Manager 
Durham, NC 

Donald Liles 
Vice President/Senior Portfolio 
Underwriter 
Durham, NC 

Karen A. McMillen 
Vice President/Special Projects 
Coordinator 
Durham, NC 

Patricia S. "Patty" Quattromini 
Vice President/Deposit Operations 
Manager 
Durham, NC 

William M. Ray 
Vice President/ Business Banker 
Raleigh, NC 

Keira A. Silver 
Vice President/Loan Operations 
Manager 
Durham, NC 

Kimberly B. Williams 
Vice President/Retail Banking Sales 
and Operations Manager 
Durham, NC 

Cristina Velasquez, SPHR 
Assistant Vice President 
Human Resources Manager 
Durham, NC 

Internal Audit & Risk Management 

Patricia A. Bagby, CBA, CCBCO 
Audit, Compliance and Risk Manager 
Durham, NC 

Shelia Winston-Graves 
Assistant Vice President/Compliance 
and Training Manager 
Raleigh, NC 

46 



' I l. 

SHAREHOLDERS' INFORMATION 

Annua l Meeting 
M&F Bancorp, Inc., a North Carolina Corporation, will convene its Annual Meeting of Shareholders on Tuesday, 
June 4, 2019, at 10:00 a.m. in the ballroom of the Double Tree Hotel by Hilton at Research Triangle Park, 4810 
Page Creek Lane, Durham, NC. All shareholders are cordially invited. 
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Requests for information should be directed to Ms. Valerie M. Quiett, Senior Vice President/Chief Legal Officer 
at M&F Bancorp, Inc., 2634 Durham Chapel Hill Blvd., Durham, NC 27707. 
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